

3/23/2017

Page 1

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

EVENING COMMUNITY MEETING

Thursday, March 23, 2017 3:00 p.m.

1301 Third Avenue, Suite 767

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48226

1 COMMISSIONERS:
2
3 WILLIE BELL, Chairperson (Dist. 4)
4 RICARDO R. MOORE, Vice-Chairperson (Dist. 7)
5 ELIZABETH BROOKS, Commissioner Appointed
6 WILLIE E. BURTON, Commissioner (Dist. 5)
7 LISA CARTER, Commissioner (Dist. 6)
8 REGINALD CRAWFORD, Commissioner (Dist. 3)
9 EVA GARZA DEWAELESCHE, At-Large
10 CONRAD MALLETT, JR., At-Large
11 DERRICK SANDERS, At-Large
12 RICHARD SHELBY, Commissioner (Dist. 1)
13 BISHOP EDGAR VANN, Commissioner (Dist 2)
14
15 GREGORY HICKS, Secretary to the Board
16
17
18

19 REPRESENTING OFFICE OF THE CHIEF OF POLICE:
20 DEPUTY CHIEF CHARLES FITZGERALD
21
22
23
24
25

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 March 23, 2017

3 At or about 3:00 p.m.

4

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good afternoon.

6 ATTENDEES: Good afternoon.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Kind of weak on a nice day
8 like this, but welcome to the weekly afternoon meeting of
9 the Board of Police Commission. I am your Chair Willie
10 Bell from the District 4. I'm going to call the meeting to
11 order. And let us pray.

12 (Invocation given)

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm going to call the roll.
14 And let the commissioners introduce themselves starting to
15 my left.

16 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Richard Shelby, police
17 commissioner, District 1.

18 COMMISSIONER VANN: Commissioner Edgar Vann,
19 District 2.

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner Reggie
21 Crawford, District 3.

22 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Commissioner Ricardo Moore,
23 District 7, Vice Chair.

24 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Commissioner Elizabeth
25 Brooks, At-Large.

1 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Commissioner Conrad
2 Mallett, At-Large.

3 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Commissioner Derrick
4 Sanders, At-Large.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Eva Garza Dewaelsche,
6 At-Large.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Mr. Secretary, do we have a
8 quorum?

9 MR. HICKS: Mr. Chair, yes, you have a quorum.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: The next item of business
11 would be approval of the agenda this afternoon's meeting,
12 March 23rd.

13 COMMISSIONER VANN: So moved.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Support.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and
16 supported.

17 Discussion? Those in favor aye.

18 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
20 carried.

21 And we move to the minutes from March 16, 2017.

22 COMMISSIONER VANN: So moved, Mr. Chair.

23 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Support.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and
25 supported.

1 Discussion? Those in favor aye.

2 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
4 carried.

5 We move to -- the next item would be Mr. Hicks
6 introducing the Board staff, please.

7 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

8 Today's meeting we have, of course, Robert Brown
9 who is seated immediately to my right. And we have
10 Ms. Donya Underwood. Ms. Johnson and Ms. White for policy.
11 And let me also take the opportunity to say that Sergeant
12 Quinn is recording our meeting, as well as Media Services
13 providing the audio/visual taping. And Donna Williams is
14 the court reporter for today. And then I want to go to
15 Chief Drake for the introduction of her staff.

16 CHIEF INVESTIGATOR DRAKE: For the record, Pamela
17 Davis Drake, Chief Investigator. With us today is
18 Supervising Investigator Lawrence Akbar.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. And it's good to
20 see the Board's staff this afternoon.

21 And sitting in for Chief Craig is Deputy Chief
22 Charles Fitzgerald.

23 Good afternoon to you.

24 DEPUTY CHIEF FITZGERALD: Good afternoon.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: And if you care to introduce

1 any other --

2 DEPUTY CHIEF FITZGERALD: I would care to. I'll
3 start in the front here. Deputy Chief Washington, legal
4 advisor. Lieutenant Jevon Johnson; Sergeant Gerald Hewitt;
5 Lieutenant William Sims; Commander Deshawn Sims; Captain
6 Elaine Miles; Lieutenant Franklin Hayes; Sergeant Gru
7 (Phonetic) Travis I think just snuck in and sat down. In
8 the far corner we have Officer Williams and officer Morris.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir. And welcome
10 DPD family.

11 Any elected officials in the building, the room I
12 should say? I see representing elective official our good
13 friend Dr. Arthur Divers, one of our outstanding educators
14 for many many years in the city of Detroit.

15 MS. BUTLER: Lydia Butler, president of Second
16 Precinct Relations Counsel.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good to see you madam
18 president.

19 Any others? If not, thank you for all of your
20 presence this afternoon, and it's good to see.

21 As we move onto, I guess my report. I don't
22 really have a -- just a brief report.

23 On this past Monday Chief Investigator Pamela
24 Davis Drake and I attended the police academy class. I
25 think that was 17G. And what amazed us was, what, about

1 twenty-seven student police officers in their fourth week;
2 and there were about ten of them from a criminal justice
3 background. Either they was completing their degree or
4 have degrees in criminal justice. And I was amazed in
5 terms of that type of interaction. I think we haven't
6 encountered that many young people. And we had a good
7 interesting dialogue with them in an hour and a half. So
8 it was very rewarding to interact.

9 We witnessed another academy class. They was
10 still in civilian clothes, so I guess they were coming in
11 the first week or two weeks. But the academy is full. And
12 you can witness that and walk in the hallways there. The
13 pushups and the running and the whole demeanor of
14 discipline, getting exposed to DPD. And I was proud to
15 interact with that particular class and with the staff, as
16 always.

17 So I assume that, commissioners, you are getting
18 communication from our board secretary. I would hope that
19 you'd take note of communications being circulated and that
20 you would give us some feedback on receiving it. And if
21 you say, okay, whatever that is just let us know that you
22 are receiving it. We don't want you to come up two weeks
23 later and say I didn't get this, get that; because
24 communication is flowing.

25 Right Vice Chair Moore?

1 COMMISSIONER MOORE: That's right.

2 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: We will do that, Mr.
3 Chair.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, good. Thank you.
5 Appreciate that. So that is my brief report.

6 So we're going to move right on to resolution.
7 And we have, what, three retired officers. If we could
8 share that with the commissioners. We don't have -- oh,
9 Commissioner Burton, I didn't see you come in. Good to see
10 you this afternoon, sir.

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Mr. Chairman.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. So we're just going to
13 do I guess a segment of it. We're not going to do --
14 because the officers are not here, so we're not going to
15 read the whole resolution. We're just going to outline.
16 So who it's been designated out. Commissioner Moore would
17 take the lead.

18 COMMISSIONER MOORE: I can start off the first
19 one and another commissioner can jump in if they would
20 like.

21 Resolution honoring Sergeant Ian Becker.

22 WHEREAS Mr. Ian Becker was appointed to the
23 Detroit Police Department on January 12, 1998 and upon
24 graduating from the Detroit Metropolitan Police Academy he
25 was assigned to the Second Precinct; and...

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

--- ---

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED

That the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners speaking on behalf of the Detroit Police Department and the citizens of the City of Detroit recognize the exemplary service of Officer Ian Becker. His pride and dedication have been invaluable assets to the Department and merit our highest regard.

Move for adoption, Mr. Chairman.

COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Support.

COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Second.

COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and supported.

Discussion? Those in favor aye.

BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion carried.

COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Mr. Chair, I'll do Sergeant Sloan.

COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: There's a Resolution here that we want to the present honoring Sergeant Jason Sloan.

WHEREAS Mr. Jason Sloan was appointed to the Detroit Police Department on May 6th, 1996 and upon

1 graduating from the Detroit Metropolitan Police Academy he
2 was assigned to the Twelfth Precinct; and...

3 --- ---

4 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED

5 That the Detroit Police Commissioners, speaking
6 on behalf of the Detroit Police Department and the citizens
7 of the City of Detroit, recognize the exemplary service of
8 Sergeant Jason Sloan. His pride and dedication have been
9 invaluable assets to the department and merit our highest
10 regard.

11 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Move for adoption, Mr.
12 Chair.

13 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Second.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and
15 supported.

16 Discussion? Those in favor say aye.

17 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
19 carried. Thank you.

20 Finally Officer Smith.

21 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Mr. Chairman, I'll read
22 Officer Smith.

23 Officer Keri Smith was appointed to the Detroit
24 Police Department on January 8, 1996. Upon graduating from
25 the Detroit Metropolitan Police Academy Officer Smith began

1 her career at the Tenth Precinct.

2 --- ---

3 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED

4 That the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners,
5 speaking on behalf of the Detroit Police Department and the
6 citizens of the City of Detroit, recognize the lifelong
7 commitment to Public Safety by Police Officer Keri Smith.
8 Your exemplary service to law enforcement has been an
9 invaluable asset to the Department and to the citizens of
10 the City of Detroit and you merit our highest regard.

11 Mr. Chairman, I move adoption.

12 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Support.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and
14 supported.

15 Discussion? Those in favor aye.

16 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
18 carried.

19 Thank you commissioners. And we just want to
20 really appreciate the service of all these outstanding
21 officers. We wish them the best in their retirement. As
22 they go forth there's another light after retirement. Some
23 of us can attest to that as far as from the DPD family,
24 so --

25 The next item of business would be hearing from

1 Deputy Chief Charles Fitzgerald on behalf of Chief Craig.

2 DEPUTY CHIEF FITZGERALD: Yes, sir, Mr. Chair.

3 My remarks actually are pretty brief. Most
4 importantly, we lost Officer Frank Gregory this week. He
5 lost his battle to cancer. I don't have any arrangements
6 as of right now, but once we have them I'll make sure that
7 our Board has those.

8 As far as crime, we've been really treading in
9 the right direction. Those homicides, I tell you. We've
10 made significant impact in that; and then we get,
11 unfortunately, five people burned up in that apartment fire
12 and three people killed over the weekend. So right now we
13 are just a little bit -- we're slightly up. We're three
14 over same time last year. About a five percent increase.
15 And then the nonfatal shootings we teeter totter back and
16 forth. We're under and then we're back over. So as of
17 this morning we're over ten. That puts us about a six
18 percent increase. Other than that, most of the precincts
19 look pretty good crime wise.

20 Carjackings are still trending down. Robberies
21 trending down. And then our aggravated assaults are still
22 trending down. So all in all good.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.

24 Commissioners, any questions or comments for the
25 deputy chief?

1 I do have one. Could you give us an update on
2 the two police officers that -- are they still in the
3 hospital?

4 DEPUTY CHIEF FITZGERALD: Yes, sir. Officer
5 Atkinson went home late last week over the weekend. He's
6 doing better.

7 Good news on Officer Kisselburg. He had surgery.
8 They pulled part of the bullet out, and he's in a lot more
9 -- a lot less pain than he was before. They had him
10 sitting up. They had him walking, so he looks like he's
11 progressing well as well.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you.
13 Appreciate the update.

14 Any other questions or comments?

15 Deputy Chief, you get off light.

16 DEPUTY CHIEF FITZGERALD: Nice.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Mr. Hicks, do we -- any
18 response from DPA, Detroit Building Authority or DPD
19 Property?

20 MR. CLIFTON: Hi.

21 MR. HICKS: The gentleman's here.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Oh, yes. Young man.

23 MR. CLIFTON: How you doing?

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you. Thank
25 you. Appreciate it. Identify yourself.

1 MR. CLIFTON: Absolutely. Good afternoon.
2 Tyrone Clifton. I'm the director of the Detroit Building
3 Authority.

4 A little bit about the Detroit Building
5 Authority. You know we were established in the late 70s.
6 We were established to do capital improvement, renovations
7 and maintenance of certain city owned facilities.
8 Typically we do that through the Capital Program with
9 various departments. We enter into an agreement. That
10 agreement has the funding tied to it, and it also
11 identifies the capital project; and then we try to
12 accomplish that project for them.

13 Currently the DBA does capital improvements
14 still, but we also run the demolition program for the city
15 and the HAS Program, and we also do commercial real estate
16 transactions on behalf of the city. So various
17 departments, leases. And we've done some leases for the
18 police department, some sales, some purchases. We do that
19 per the direction of the city.

20 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Do you have regulatory
21 responsibility in terms of issuing tickets for dangerous
22 buildings or anything like that?

23 MR. CLIFTON: We do not. Typically that's
24 handled through the Department of Administrations, the
25 hearings and BCs. Some things are handled through DPW.

1 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Oh, I see. So for
2 instance, the Russell Center off I-75 --

3 MR. CLIFTON: Correct.

4 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Who --

5 MR. CLIFTON: That's Building Safety Engineering
6 Department.

7 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Oh, Building Safety.

8 MR. CLIFTON: Mr. David Bell.

9 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Okay. Thank you.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Any other questions or
11 comments?

12 MR. CLIFTON: So just for your own edification,
13 the DBA is currently working on a handful of projects with
14 the police department. The new 8th Police Precinct, you
15 know, we had the ribbon cutting for that. We're trying to
16 get that opened by June 1st.

17 We're working on a renovation and building out of
18 the 3rd Police Precinct. Mainly there we're trying to
19 create the lockers in the basement of the facility for the
20 precinct. As you know, that building was an administrative
21 building and now it's becoming more of a precinct. We'll
22 also hold to harden the lobby to make it feel more like a
23 precinct when you come in there. I know that the police
24 also conduct a lot of their other license there too, so
25 that's going to be what we're working on.

1 We hope to get the new Seventh going this year,
2 but we still have a lot of due diligence to do on that.
3 The new Seventh potentially is going be on the far
4 eastside. We've looked at a couple of sites. We're trying
5 to settle on a site for that. And some other stuff that we
6 do for the police throughout the year as it maintains to
7 maintenance and upkeep.

8 COMMISSIONER VANN: Through the Chair.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioner Crawford and
10 Commissioner Vann.

11 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir. The building
12 for the Chief Investigator's Office for the Commission.

13 COMMISSIONER VANN: That's what I was going to
14 ask about.

15 MR. CLIFTON: The Merrill Plaisance?

16 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir.

17 MR. CLIFTON: Yes, yes. The Merrill Plaisance,
18 the business case was approved. We are waiting for the
19 funding to get put in place by the City of Detroit, and
20 then we will proceed with that project.

21 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Okay, we're waiting for
22 funding now?

23 COMMISSIONER VANN: We're now waiting for
24 funding?

25 MR. CLIFTON: Well the building case is approved,

1 but the funding has to be approved with that business case
2 and then we will proceed with the project.

3 COMMISSIONER VANN: No.

4 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Question. How do you
5 interact with the funding department?

6 MR. CLIFTON: Well for us the agreement is with
7 the Police Department. So when that agreement is in place
8 then we proceed. But that agreement is not in place, so we
9 cannot proceed right now.

10 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Ms. Jones, would you like to
11 step up?

12 MS. JONES: Good afternoon Board. Lisa Jones,
13 agent for CFO.

14 So in terms of the Merrill Plaisance. So we were
15 asked -- when we submitted this case we were asked to
16 include in the capital plan, which we did. So it is
17 included in the mayor's capital agenda, which was submitted
18 to City Council. We just got feedback with City Council's
19 recommendations this week. That was not mentioned as
20 something that we needed to take a look at to make
21 revisions for. So we're hoping that it makes the final cut
22 for the capital agenda. But we have not received that from
23 Council yet. So we're still in the stages of revising per
24 their recommendations, and then hopefully we'll hear
25 something in the next month or so.

1 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioner Vann.

3 COMMISSIONER VANN: I'm confused.

4 MS. JONES: Yes.

5 COMMISSIONER VANN: This is not brand new.

6 MS. JONES: It is not brand new, sir.

7 COMMISSIONER VANN: So I'd like to know -- so
8 what happened to the funding from before?

9 MS. JONES: So as has been the case for several
10 capital projects, not just with the department but
11 citywide, where there was funding once allotted for these
12 projects via business cases that process has since changed,
13 and we were asked to submit those projects via our capital
14 plan. And once the capital plan is approved then we would
15 submit a business case to actually receive the funding. So
16 essentially the funding that was once there is no longer
17 there or is being funneled via a different route. But
18 we've been asked to just add these things to our capital
19 agenda. I understand this was before my time, certainly.
20 And we have been working with Tyrone to try to push this
21 through. So as soon as we know we'll obviously let you
22 know.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir?

24 MR. HOLLIS: Through the Chair. Executive
25 Manager Hollis, Resource Management.

1 The director here wasn't on board. The question
2 was asked about the previous funding. It was funded at one
3 point. However, as you know, the contractor didn't
4 complete the job so there's only partial funds left. So it
5 was funded at one time, and now we're looking for
6 additional funds to complete the project, the incomplete
7 project.

8 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Mr. Chair.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well I would like to say,
10 this is news. Because we were told by a very reliable
11 source --

12 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Very reliable --

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Very reliable.

14 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Very, very reliable.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- that this was signed,
16 sealed and delivered.

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: Right.

18 MR. HOLLIS: The director can speak about now.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

20 MR. HOLLIS: What I'm saying, you asked about
21 previous funds.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well I'm speaking of --

23 MR. HOLLIS: There were previous funds
24 approved --

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, I understand.

1 MR. HOLLIS: -- and they were partially used.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, the partial, whatever
3 now, we have pursued this matter in 2017.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Right.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: So we thought -- we had
6 reported out that this matter had been resolved and it was
7 on schedule for late fall. So we trust, you know --

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Mr. Chair --

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Go ahead.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: -- at one point we were
11 told the project was 80% complete.

12 MR. HOLLIS: That's right.

13 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: And that was last year.
14 And so I'm not -- I guess I'm not understanding either.

15 MR. HOLLIS: Well that 80% is pretty much
16 correct. And 80% of the funds were utilized. However, to
17 bring on a new contractor it's my understanding that
18 additional funds would be needed to complete the project.

19 COMMISSIONER MOORE: So through the Chair.

20 Who would have been responsible for coming back
21 to the Board to update us to say what you're telling us
22 now?

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's out of his hands.

24 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Well I think in terms of
25 the funding we're going into another budget cycle here.

1 We're talking about for the next budget.

2 MR. HOLLIS: We included it in our capital plan.
3 And the person that can speak definitively on that is the
4 director, and she has informed us of the latest
5 information.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: We understand.

7 COMMISSIONER VANN: Through the Chair.

8 How much money is leftover here? And who's been
9 responsible all along? And have they been dealt with?

10 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Right.

11 MR. HOLLIS: Well the initial lead on it was
12 General Services, City General Services. They were the
13 project managers on the job. However, there was some
14 undisclosed items that had to be -- that came up that had
15 to be corrected before the project could be finished. So
16 --

17 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Through the Chair.

18 I'd like to know, don't you have a bond when you
19 hire these contractors that are shady and they come back
20 and they don't do the work?

21 MR. HOLLIS: I believe the DPA can speak better
22 on bonds and can instruct you.

23 -- unintelligible due to multiple speakers --

24 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: So can you speak on that?

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Somebody needs to talk

1 quickly.

2 MR. CLIFTON: So the DBA process, you're
3 absolutely right. That is 100% performance bond that we
4 require on our capital projects. This was not initially a
5 DBA project. This project was handled directly by the City
6 through OCP, Office of Contracting and Procurement. So now
7 it's coming to the DBA it will be handled differently. I
8 assure you once those dollars get in place we will
9 facilitate to make sure it's completed. OCP is handling
10 the legal ramifications of the other contractor. That's
11 not a DBA problem.

12 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Mr. Chair --

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: -- could we possibly
15 request maybe an outline that shows a timeline with the
16 amounts that are outstanding or that are needed to complete
17 the project? A one-page summary report.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: If Ms. Jones can comply with
19 your request then we would make that formerly. It's a
20 consensus that we initiate that. And we would pursue it at
21 a higher level, because we thought it was clear --

22 COMMISSIONER VANN: It was clear.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- and resolved. But I
24 understand your position. So we're not really here to beat
25 up on you.

1 MS. JONES: No, no, no. And I think the
2 information you received, I'm not disputing that.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

4 MS. JONES: I'm only going on the information I'm
5 receiving, and I think there could be some miscommunication
6 there.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

8 MS. JONES: So, yes, if you can get more clarity
9 than I've been able to get. But what we're requesting in
10 the capital plan, was my understanding of what's needed to
11 complete the project, is 1.595.

12 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Really?

13 COMMISSIONER VANN: No. No.

14 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Another million dollars?

15 COMMISSIONER VANN: So then, Mr. Chair --

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: -- then we need a full
18 financial accounting of what's taking place, because
19 somebody's lying to us. Now when we have people come here
20 to tell us what the status of the project is we get, you
21 know, a bunch of mumbo jumbo. Then we try to talk to other
22 people about it, we get other kinds of responses. Now
23 we're \$1.5 million away?

24 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Nine.

25 MS. JONES: 1.595.

1 COMMISSIONER VANN: 1.595?

2 COMMISSIONER MALLET: That's supposedly 80%
3 completed.

4 COMMISSIONER VANN: It's supposed to be 80%
5 completed? I mean somebody's not telling the truth. This
6 is not accurate. We're not receiving accurate information.
7 It's obvious. Now I'm not trying to be personal. I'm just
8 saying it's obvious. You know all the grinning and --
9 that's going on is probably making me a little bit more
10 disturbed about it. Because this is a very serious issue.
11 This is something we've been looking for and waiting on
12 almost every since I've been on the commission --

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Right.

14 COMMISSIONER VANN: -- this second time. We've
15 been told all kinds of things from all kinds of people.

16 I think that, Mr. Chair, we've got to have a
17 financial timeline there too. Eighty percent is done.
18 There's supposed to be more money still there. How much?
19 And then how much over against the \$1.595 million that it's
20 supposed to take to finish it when it's supposed to be 80%
21 finished? Somebody's not telling us the truth.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Well, Mr. Chair, I'd
23 like to make a motion --

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

25 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: -- that we get an

1 update report with finances and also timeline included so
2 that we can be aware of exactly what's going on.

3 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Support.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly moved and
5 supported.

6 Discussion? I think we already had the
7 discussion.

8 Those in favor aye.

9 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
11 carried. And we will put this at the top of the agenda to
12 try and get a response by next week, as soon as possible.

13 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Mr. Chairman, normally
14 when we say we want it responded to in a week it doesn't
15 happen. So what I'm suggesting is, is that -- because I
16 believe that we are all very concerned.

17 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Yes, very.

18 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Why don't we give the
19 department three weeks. Because we're going to be in a
20 community setting next week. So we come back then, and we
21 got two meetings in a row here. So that would give the
22 department three weeks to pull it together. Because the
23 thing is -- now remember, Mr. Chairman, what the bishop has
24 asked for, what Commissioner Vann has asked for, is how we
25 got to where we are. The contractor who was in place --

1 it's now coming back to me, because it has been awhile --
2 there was some nefarious activity, right? There were
3 representations made that work was being done that wasn't
4 getting done, and he was paid already. So there was a
5 little bit of subdiffusion on that. And then we -- and so
6 there was a holdup there.

7 But if the building really is 80% complete, and
8 it's going to cost another \$2,000,000 to finish?

9 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Right.

10 COMMISSIONER MALLET: So are we tearing out the
11 80%? Are we starting over? I mean, that's the kind of
12 clarity I think, Mr. Chairman, the people are anxious to
13 receive.

14 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: We couldn't go with all --

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, commissioner Mallett, I
16 agree with you. You have a great spirit. And hopefully a
17 part -- so I just want to --

18 Thank you. Thank you. Thank you for the barrier
19 of bad news, but it's timely because we need to know.

20 But I want to have Pamela Davis Drake to report
21 out what we witnessed about a year ago with the building.
22 I did the walk-through. You did a couple of walk-through.

23 Sir, we appreciate the build-out on the seventh
24 floor. So that's a good thank you for that. I know this
25 is beyond your control.

1 Commissioner Lisa Carter has joined us.

2 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: I got one question.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir. Oh, I'm sorry.

4 Mr. Sanders.

5 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: For Mr. Tyrone.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Mr. Tyrone.

7 MR. CLIFTON: Yes.

8 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: I got one question for
9 you. Can you tell the Board how do you go about picking
10 contractors and checking them out to make sure they have
11 the right bonding so we won't run into this again, since
12 you're taking over now?

13 MR. CLIFTON: Well the DBA's process is typically
14 we issue an RFQ for most of our services. So that's a
15 qualifications based selection method.

16 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Okay.

17 MR. CLIFTON: We look at that vendor who's an
18 architect, who's an engineer, who's a contractor, their
19 qualifications, their history of completing like projects
20 and then we make a recommendation to the DBA Board. So I
21 have to present to the DBA Board all the facts, and they do
22 the final approval.

23 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Okay, the Board does?

24 MR. CLIFTON: Yes. And part of our
25 requirement --

1 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: And you're the director,
2 right?

3 MR. CLIFTON: Yes, I am the director. Part of
4 our requirements is --

5 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: So it stops at you. You
6 make that decision to the Board.

7 MR. CLIFTON: I do the presentation to the Board.
8 We present all the facts. The Board makes the approval.

9 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Thank you.

10 MR. CLIFTON: And we do require 100% performance
11 and payment forms on our projects.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.

13 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: My head hurt.

14 CHIEF INVESTIGATOR DRAKE: Good afternoon.
15 Again, Pamela Davis Drake, chief investigator, for the
16 record.

17 Mr. Chair, I'm assuming that you want to
18 discuss --

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

20 CHIEF INVESTIGATOR DRAKE: -- or you want me to
21 talk about what we initially walked into --

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

23 CHIEF INVESTIGATOR DRAKE: -- what it looked like
24 when we last were in the building?

25 Well there were -- as you all know, there were

1 several buildings that we were looking at that the
2 department made available for OCI to look at and to go into
3 to make sure that it would suit our needs. We decided on
4 the Merrill Plaisance Building. Merrill Plaisance is the
5 one story building that is right in the heart of Palmer
6 Park. That building needed a substantial amount of
7 renovation done to it in order to accommodate our needs.
8 It was an old school. At that time the contractor came in.
9 He began the work on the building.

10 I believe you -- I think, Commissioner Bell, you
11 were with us --

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

13 CHIEF INVESTIGATOR DRAKE: -- through the initial
14 walk-in, or walk through, before any of the renovation was
15 done. So you know it was in pretty bad shape. There was a
16 lot of water damage. There was water in the basement and
17 so forth that had to be handled. Contractor came in; made
18 a lot of renovations. Basically it seemed like every time
19 we were making some headway there was another issue that
20 came up with the building. The last one, of course, was
21 the drainage issue. There was a lot of water damage in the
22 basement. That had to be addressed.

23 By the time the contractor completed about 80% of
24 the work that was done there was new plumbing that was put
25 in, electrical wiring; there was new telephone, you know,

1 equipment and so forth that was already put in.

2 My understanding is that the contractor dropped
3 the ball. Obviously that is in litigation at this point.
4 I don't know where it is, but it is in litigation. By the
5 time that it was transferred over to DBA, DBA -- I don't
6 know what their process is, but they did hire another
7 contractor to go in. No other contractor, just for the
8 record, is going to authorize someone else's work. And I
9 think that's kind of what we're looking at now for the
10 additional cost. They're not going to cosign another
11 contractor's work. So I don't know what that process will
12 look like, but I do know that that probably is one of the
13 reasons why there is additional money that has been
14 requested.

15 I don't know exactly how much money was still
16 available at that time. We were all told a lot of things.
17 We were told, I believe, by some higher level official that
18 the project was approved. The project being approved
19 doesn't necessarily mean though that the funding was also
20 approved. So I think that's kind of where we are now.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you for that update.
22 We appreciate it.

23 AC White, did you want to chime in?

24 AC WHITE: Yes I do. Good afternoon Board.
25 Assistant Chief James White.

1 I apologize. I don't know what was discussed
2 here but I was able to ascertain that we're talking about
3 the Merrill Plaisance Project. So I apologize if I repeat
4 something that you already heard.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: No problem.

6 AC WHITE: But just to bring this into clear view
7 we have to start with how we got to the Merrill Plaisance
8 Project. This was born out of working with the consultants
9 and having to get out of lease buildings. We had a
10 building consolidation plan that a lot of people have
11 seemed to have forgotten. It was born out of the need to
12 stop paying for leases for buildings that we already owned.
13 So we went through and we identified a number of buildings
14 that the police department owned -- or the City of Detroit
15 owned that could serve as a -- or could solve a need for
16 the police department. One of those building was Merrill
17 Plaisance for BOPC and OCI.

18 And the reason that we chose that building for
19 OCI as a consideration was the idea at that time was that
20 OCI could not coexist with police in the same building.
21 Not that we didn't want them here, but maybe someone in the
22 community would not necessarily feel comfortable making
23 complaints against police officers in a building where
24 police officers are walking around. So that's how we ended
25 up at that building. It fit a need. Because the bus lines

1 ran through there. Literally there was a bus terminal
2 within I think less than a quarter mile from there. It was
3 in a community. It was wasn't an intimidating environment,
4 so it met our criteria.

5 So we brought in the Office of the Chief
6 Investigator. We asked him to take a look at the building,
7 let's see if it could work. We looked at our building
8 consolidation budget. We looked at all of the different
9 factors. My team put together a business case, which was
10 the protocol at that time. That business case was not only
11 selected, it was approved. That money went forward to a
12 contractor.

13 Now that's where the police department got out of
14 the business. We provided the business case and the needs
15 list. At that point those who negotiated price for
16 contractors got involved. Not our team, but whomever those
17 people were at the time. I'll refer to them as the City.
18 They identified the lowest bid for the contract, which for
19 me is usually a flag. I don't like to take the lowest bid
20 or the highest bid. I like to fall somewhere in between.
21 The person who was selected thought that they could handle
22 this very rustic project with a very limited budget; got
23 into financial trouble; went belly up, went bankrupt after
24 we were already invested to the sum of close to a million
25 bucks. There is litigation going on right now to resolve

1 that portion of it, but it doesn't resolve the fact that
2 we've got a building that's about 80% finished and all our
3 money's gone. So that's one component.

4 Now as it relates to the 80% build that's already
5 done on the building, the problem is we can't find anybody
6 that'll come in and guarantee their work and say, okay,
7 walls are up, heating and plumbing's in now I'm going to do
8 20%. No, I don't trust it because I have to guarantee it.
9 So they want to gut it back down to where it was and then
10 bring it back up. And so that's going to require
11 approximately a million bucks. And so that's how we end up
12 having OCI at PSHQ.

13 And I will also add that where they're at now,
14 Office of the Chief Investigator, you know, not necessarily
15 a remedy but to -- as a -- just a placeholder, if you will,
16 until we can resolve this other issue, you know, the police
17 department picks up the lease price on the space that
18 they're in right now until we can resolve it further.

19 So ultimately we're either going to build out
20 Merrill Plaisance or we're going to find a long-term
21 solution. Which I don't know what Tyrone Clifton has
22 reported out on that portion of it, but I know that the
23 last discussions we had were they were doing a building
24 eval to see if we should go through with building it out or
25 should we look for a lease long-term for OCI.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well you brought clarity to
2 where we are. And this was not the decision of this Board;
3 this came about prior to 2013. '12? Before we arrived.
4 It was already in the works.

5 Yes?

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the Chair, I just
7 want to the add too you're absolutely correct. It's not
8 the decision of this Board in that this Board has been very
9 fiscally responsible or acting responsible in terms of our
10 buildings. Because we made a sacrifice in giving up our
11 office, and OCI was moved into our office. And as you
12 stated, Assistant Chief, this is not really conducive to
13 citizens coming into Police Headquarters to file
14 complaints.

15 Having said that, it's been three years now.
16 It's been three years. And we appreciate the build-out for
17 OCI to move across the hall so they'll have adequate space
18 to do their work, but it's really been -- it's been too
19 long. And in effect those guys have been squatting in our
20 office, as I often say to them. They're some squatters.
21 Hopefully soon --

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: I don't think we want to use
23 that term. They're a part of our staff.

24 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Well they're a part of
25 our staff.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: I don't want to use the word
2 squatting, you know. So just clarify that part of it.

3 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Well but we haven't had
4 access as a commission to even our own offices. And
5 everyone has more or less accepted that and made that
6 sacrifice. Because we do understand in terms of the fiscal
7 end of it, you know, in terms of trying to find other space
8 to lease, etc. So hopefully it can be resolved.

9 AC WHITE: Yeah, I just want to add as I close
10 that OCI's been a great tenant and a great neighbor. We
11 have also afforded them the opportunity to use even more
12 space. We've moved out our labor team in the space that
13 they had across the hall.

14 There's been a build-out. And I don't want to
15 suggest that anyone's been fiscally irresponsible, but we
16 had a business that went belly up as we were in the process
17 of building out our space. It doesn't help us that that
18 happened. I mean, I don't know how much money we're going
19 to get back from them. They don't exist. They're
20 bankrupt.

21 So, you know, they can stay as long as they want
22 and we will work with them as best we can. But we are
23 actively pursuing --

24 And Tyrone, I don't know where we are with it,
25 but we are actively pursuing a long-term solution for OCI.

1 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Through the Chair.

2 Just one brief thing that before you walked in my
3 question dealt with transparency. The same report you gave
4 we should have had awhile ago. That's the only thing I'm
5 saying.

6 AC WHITE: Well --

7 COMMISSIONER MOORE: And why weren't we given it?

8 AC WHITE: From whom?

9 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Whoever.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well we have received that
11 type information. We didn't know about --

12 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Well as far as he just said
13 it. But the same thing I stated earlier, the transparency
14 wasn't there.

15 AC WHITE: Well from my standpoint I met with
16 several members of the panel, or of the Board. I did a
17 walk through with the Board. And anytime a question comes
18 up about anything under my purview I'm more than willing to
19 comment on it and show you the documentation. So, I mean,
20 if you want a monthly update on this matter I'll be more
21 than happy to provide it.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: No, we've been clear as far
23 as the role of DPD. We didn't know about that we're
24 starting over, but you made it clear that they can't
25 guarantee somebody else's work.

1 And this really hasn't stifled us as a Board of
2 Police Commission or stifled the work of OCI. The work is
3 continuing on. And we found out also that people do not
4 really do walk-ins. They do mostly online and through the
5 precinct, etc. So it's really not cumbersome to us; we
6 just want that separation in the long-term dealing with it.

7 So if we can weigh in on if there's not going to
8 be plan A then we want to weigh in on plan B. And as he
9 stated, we're moving towards some type of awareness in
10 three weeks. And we give you -- but we don't want to point
11 the finger at you or stifle anything.

12 Commissioner Mallett, you had another question or
13 concern?

14 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: I did, yeah.

15 And AC this is really, as you point out Mr.
16 Chairman, got nothing to -- I'd like to submit can I speak
17 to the director of the building authority?

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

19 Thank you, AC White.

20 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: You know, as Commissioner
21 Crawford said, we've been pretty careful of the City's
22 money. I'm concerned that we've got a \$2 million number.
23 1.995, whatever it was that was said. In your judgment is
24 this the best alternative for the citizens of the City of
25 Detroit and the limited tax dollars that they have to spend

1 this amount of money on that building? Isn't there another
2 building in your inventory that for a significantly less
3 amount of money we could move into? I'm concerned that
4 this is an unnecessary expense at a time when the city
5 still doesn't have the money. And I wonder with the
6 inventory that you are aware of if we --

7 Since we are, Mr. Chairman, almost starting
8 something over, right --

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

10 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: -- in terms of the amount
11 of money is there a better alternative than the one that
12 we're pursuing now?

13 MR. CLIFTON: Yeah, through the Chair. I mean,
14 obviously we can absolutely look at that. But from the
15 inventory that we have with the City, because we do manage
16 the City's commercial inventory, I don't have a structure
17 that comes into my immediate mind that is as good as this
18 one would be.

19 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: I see.

20 MR. CLIFTON: This structure, where it's located
21 is a very good building. It does need it's investment to
22 be made in it. I mean, that is my opinion. I will go back
23 to the real estate team and see if we have anything. But
24 everything that we have so far, because we do marketing for
25 the City for other vendors who want to buy property, they

1 need significant inventory or investment.

2 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: So that was significant to
3 me. So you believe that this building is properly suited
4 for the task at hand and that the amount of money that has
5 been allocated is appropriate to the job that has to be
6 done? I'm trying to get somebody to tell me that we are
7 not wasting the tax payers money. It's got nothing to do
8 with DPD.

9 MR. CLIFTON: I do believe this is a very good
10 asset that needs to be invested in. Absolutely. It's in a
11 great location. You can't beat it. To have something in
12 that location where citizens come to conduct business with
13 the chief I think is fantastic. Is there anything else out
14 there that I'm aware of? No. Anything else that we have
15 out there is -- I mean, it's -- it's rough. It is rough.
16 And we have a lot of structures, don't get me wrong, but
17 they need significant investment. It would be more than
18 what you see before you.

19 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Well that's quite an
20 endorsement, Mr. Chairman. I'm satisfied. Thank you.

21 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chairman.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioner Vann.

23 COMMISSIONER VANN: Along the same lines as
24 Commissioner Mallett and us being a, you know, good
25 community stewards, I'm wondering what is the propriety of

1 continuing to keep this in courts of litigation and that
2 cost as well? Is that in our best interest or should we
3 just go after trying to get the money to complete the
4 building?

5 MR. CLIFTON: Oh, I can't answer that.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think that's the Law
7 Department.

8 MR. CLIFTON: That's the City's decision. Yes.

9 COMMISSIONER VANN: Well, I mean, somebody needs
10 to be able to tell us. I mean, we're always told that this
11 is still, you know, in litigation. So I'm just wondering
12 who's supposed to tell us whether or not that is fiscally
13 responsible? Because that may not be fiscally responsible
14 either if they're actually pursuing it. And I'd like to
15 know if they are.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Deputy Chief Washington.
17 Thank you, sir.

18 DC WASHINGTON: Cecilia Washington.

19 COMMISSIONER VANN: What was funny? What's so
20 funny?

21 DC WASHINGTON: I have not --

22 MR. CLIFTON: I'm just happy to be here, sir.

23 DC WASHINGTON: I have not had any conversations,
24 sir, with the Law Department, but what I can do is to find
25 out -- number one, I wasn't aware of the bankruptcy. So I

1 need to find out where, if anything, is being done to
2 pursue collection.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: We appreciate that.

4 DC WASHINGTON: I'll have that for you.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

6 So are we satisfied with the discussion and the
7 direction we're going in?

8 And thank you again, sir.

9 MR. CLIFTON: Yep.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: And thank all the powers that
11 spoke to the issue. And hopefully we will get to some
12 clarity in two to three weeks that goes to the matter.

13 But other than that, let's move on to the next
14 item. That would be any standing Ad hoc committee reports
15 at this time.

16 Commissioner Brooks.

17 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Well on a good note,
18 Lieutenant Gardner and I met with the police chaplain. And
19 I thank Chaplain Reginald Best for putting it together. We
20 had a wonderful evening meeting. She explained a lot of
21 things to him why we need his help -- their help and the
22 churches they're affiliated with, communities that they're
23 affiliated with to help us to recruit. We received a very
24 warm welcome. And I think we're going to get a lot out of
25 this meeting. So I just want to thank the police chaplains

1 for all that they have done and all that they are going to
2 do now, and look forward to them getting back with us when
3 they get it all together.

4 And tomorrow, we have the Women Behind the Badge.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Behind the Badge.

6 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: From 10:00 until 2:00 -- I
7 think it's to 2:00 -- right here in the room about 80 young
8 women with -- I'm not sure how many people will facilitate
9 this, but we will talk about career. Policewomen as a
10 career and all the different parts of being a policewoman
11 that they could go into. So we're looking forward to that.

12 Thank you Chair.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: And Mr. Chair, if I
15 could just -

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, ma'am.

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: -- once again remind
18 everyone that next Thursday or meeting is going to be in
19 the evening. We have a special meeting at 6:30, and it
20 will be a community meeting regarding the immigration
21 issues that we're facing in Southwest Detroit. We're going
22 to have a panel of experts, including the chief. And the
23 director of civil rights will be there. So I urge everyone
24 who can to please come out so that we can learn about what
25 law enforcement is doing as it relates to our immigrant

1 community. Thank you.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you for highlighting
3 that.

4 Any other committee?

5 If not we can move on to Mr. Hicks, the Board
6 secretary.

7 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

8 I just want to simply report out that we had
9 about eight communications, which I've listed on the
10 agenda. When communications comes to us what we do is,
11 one, we clock it into the office, or stamp it into the
12 office, and we send it out immediately with inside of a day
13 or two for sure to all the commissioners. So these are --
14 the list here are communications that you've already
15 received, unless there's one that's scheduled to go out
16 today.

17 What you have received into the record is a
18 Discrimination and Harassment Complaint Report. It was to
19 HR. It was from the Detective Joseph Felix. You received
20 DPD 2017 Improvement Plan. You also received a
21 correspondence from DC Washington. This has to do with the
22 suspension without pay. This was an issue that came up a
23 couple meetings ago which raised the question were there
24 other suspension during the period in time in which those
25 suspensions were not coming to the Board. We have been

1 communicated there were two such suspensions. So that
2 information was received from DC Washington. And at some
3 point you would determine as a Board what you wanted to do
4 with that. But that's not the purpose of my section of the
5 report.

6 Secondly -- I mean next you had a draft policy
7 from the chief of police on body worn cameras. This was
8 Directive 304.6. That directive has been posted with DPD.
9 What typically happens when we receive the directives, we
10 put them out for public inspection and comments; and that
11 is a 30 day period. It also simultaneously goes to in this
12 case the Policy Committee. And the Policy Committee is in
13 the process of -- one, it has reviewed this area. But it's
14 in the process of now once we've gotten this information
15 from the Chief's Office to now look at it formerly.

16 So in addition to that, you also have received --
17 we did receive questions on the budget from City Council
18 president Brenda Jones; which we responded to all of those
19 questions. And as you recall, as we reported I think at
20 least a couple of meetings ago, that members of the
21 commission including the Chair appeared in front of the
22 Detroit City Council to discuss the items that were
23 contained in that series of correspondence.

24 We also received then additional questions from
25 Council Member Ayers. And in that particular one she had

1 four additional questions. We responded to that and made
2 the deadline in order for them to consider the information
3 prior to the council acting on the City's budget.

4 You also had transmitted to you all -- and this
5 was at the request of member Mallett in the last meeting
6 where it was -- other people may have joined into this in
7 addition to member Mallett. But my recollection is that
8 member Mallett led this conversation. And that was for the
9 disciplinary report in which we'll -- once OCI had
10 conducted investigations the investigations then went to
11 the Chief, and there was a question of what happens after
12 that. And you've received reports now from October 2016
13 through December 2016 on that. Those reports lag a little
14 bit in terms of time, but we are operating under the
15 understanding that as those reports come in they are being
16 immediately forwarded to the body.

17 And then the last item in which we received
18 correspondence on was a March 14th communication from the
19 Detroit Coalition Against Brutality, police brutality. And
20 in that situation as well once we receive the
21 correspondence in the office we reply at least to the fact
22 that we have -- we acknowledge that we received the
23 information to the organization that sent it to us. And
24 then it may or may not go through the additional process,
25 depending on the kind of investigation or the inquiries we

1 have to make.

2 So, Mr. Chair, with those items I simply want to
3 report to you all that those correspondence were received
4 by the office and we've taken action to refer it, if
5 necessary, or communicate the information to the Chair as
6 is appropriate.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners, any questions
8 or concerns for the board secretary?

9 Yes, sir?

10 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Mr. Chairman, I just want
11 to say to the secretary, I like this presentation. I
12 appreciate knowing everything that has just come in. I do
13 want to acknowledge, Mr. Chairman, that I have received it
14 all. And I just wanted to make sure -- and then the
15 direction you gave us is if we should at least hit I have
16 received or something to let Mr. Hicks and his team know
17 that we got it.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think that would help. You
19 know, because sometimes issues come up that you didn't
20 receive certain information. We don't want you to come to
21 a meeting and say --

22 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Right.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: And I think this report
24 brings us up to date in terms of what has transpired --

25 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Very helpful.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- you know, in terms of your
2 feedback and your concerns. But it's not just any short
3 span of control.

4 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Yep.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, thank you.

6 MR. HICKS: Mr. Chair, I also just want to note,
7 and this is just a matter of a note. We just received in
8 this meeting another correspondence from the Chief's
9 Office. It has not been clocked in; and, therefore, it is
10 not on the agenda. After we clock it in we'll send that
11 through the regular process. And dependant upon the
12 urgency of it we'll have that item in front of you as soon
13 as we can get it.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. Thank you. And I
15 might add that communication's been flowing. So I
16 appreciate that.

17 Old business. Commissioner Bruce.

18 Oh, DC. She popped up there. I'm looking to my
19 right.

20 DC WASHINGTON: No, I appreciate that. Through
21 the Chair.

22 And to Mr. Hicks, the point that he just
23 mentioned, you did -- I did deliver to and you will receive
24 signed letters. The two in particular are suspensions
25 without pay recommendations. But again, in terms of

1 timeliness I understand the Board's agenda is set at
2 advance, but we wanted to make sure that you had a
3 preliminary copy. We'll make sure that the Board has a
4 signed copy.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: That was going to be my
7 next question, but she took care of it. Because I remember
8 reading somewhere that that was supposed to come before us.
9 Thank you.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. Any old business?

11 Commissioner Carter, did you ever get notified
12 about cease fire meetings this month or last month?

13 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Through the Chair. I
14 received notification through another channel, not through
15 the police department. And we've requested I believe on
16 several occasions to be notified through the police
17 department, but it has not happened.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: DC Washington, could you make
19 a note of that? We have attended, but it's not always been
20 proper notice. DC Fitzgerald will make a notation of that.
21 I know you moved to the west side. I attended one on the
22 eastside, just as you stated, not coming from the
23 department. Because a community person sent me a email.
24 So, therefore, we've been trying to get in the mix of the
25 notification that any commissioner might want to attend can

1 attend. So if we can rectify that. We have raised that
2 issue quite some time. So I would hope that you can
3 rectify that. I know you meet on a monthly, or however
4 that flows I don't know.

5 DC WASHINGTON: And through the Chair. I
6 certainly apologize to Commissioner Carter. I know that I
7 personally prepared an invitation and addressed it to every
8 one of the commissioners for if not this one -- it was
9 either this one or -- it may have been this one for the
10 cease fire meeting. So there may be a problem with the
11 email system.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: I don't know.

13 DC WASHINGTON: Because I actually took the
14 liberty --

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's best that you send it
16 through the Board secretary --

17 DC WASHINGTON: It did.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- and he can send it out.

19 DC WASHINGTON: He was included.

20 COMMISSIONER BELL: Because we're guilty of not
21 always checking our department mail in a way, because most
22 of it don't really pertain to us. But we do check it
23 sporadically. But anything communicated to him we're
24 making sure that we receive it.

25 DC WASHINGTON: Okay. And if DC -- if it's okay

1 to kind of just to make sure that I know that it happens.
2 Because actually Director Stein reached out to me
3 personally to make sure that I extended that invitation and
4 copied the secretary and Mr. Brown and all the
5 commissioners. So I will make sure that again in advance
6 of the meeting you'll know the next one.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: We appreciate it.

8 DC WASHINGTON: I'll do it again.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: I assume things are going
10 well with the last one that was --

11 DC WASHINGTON: Yes, sir.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

13 DC WASHINGTON: Yes, sir, it was very fruitful.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER MALLET: To your point; I got it,
16 but it had two email addresses. It had the one that I use
17 at the DMC and then it had my Detroit.gov which I was
18 unaware that I had.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

20 COMMISSIONER MALLET: So that's the point, DC
21 Washington, is that as the Chairman said, we look at our
22 personal emails. We probably don't look at the
23 governmental site. I know this is the first time ever I've
24 seen it. But I got it because you have both. And --

25 MR. HICKS: Excuse me, Mr. Chair.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

2 MR. HICKS: In quick response. When we receive
3 things, and I do recall this particular item --

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay.

5 MR. HICKS: -- we then in turn send that out.
6 What I do in sending that out to you, I send -- and I am
7 the person to blame here. I send it to your personal
8 email. I send it to your department email. And if there
9 in the system is another Detroit.gov email, especially on
10 announcements like this of this character, I send it to
11 them. So that's why you likely got --

12 COMMISSIONER MALLET: Oh, okay, I got you.

13 MR. HICKS: -- three of the same, to make sure
14 that we have coverage. Because as you recall, there was
15 some issue that the commissioners were indicating they may
16 not be receiving things. So we send it widely to every
17 email that we have. There is an exception. If there's a
18 confidential piece of information or something like that we
19 will not then use personal emails or whatever the case may
20 be.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. Thank you.

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the Chair.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

24 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Mr. Hicks, I try to read
25 all emails. Thank you. Even the ones that doesn't pertain

1 to us.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, any new business?

3 Announcements. Next meeting has already been
4 highlighted by Commissioner Dewaelsche. We would hope that
5 you would put it on your calendar to attend. So I think
6 it's sort of crucial as we go forward with that particular
7 item.

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Mr. Chair, I might not
9 have said the location.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: It's at LA SED Youth
12 Center at West Vernor and Green.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, thank you. Thank you.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: At 6:30.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: 6:30 p.m. Don't come here at
16 3:00. We're not going to be here at 3:00. So we should be
17 all on the same page on that notification.

18 And our April meeting is scheduled for April 13,
19 2017 at 6:30 p.m., 11th Precinct, New Greater Zion Hill
20 Church, 18891 St. Louis. And that's in the Seven Mile
21 Mound Road area. So that's the location of our next
22 community after we meet next week.

23 And at this time we have -- it's good to see all
24 eleven commissioners here. Did anyone notice that? Wow!
25 Okay, thank you.

1 Oral communication from the audience. You have
2 two minutes to speak to the Board. Please give your name
3 and pay attention to Mr. Brown. He's going to hold the
4 cards up. It's just not for show; it's for a purpose.
5 Direct your comments to the Board. And we cover public
6 safety issues now. Public safety issues. And any other
7 issue keep it within that two minute time frame as we go
8 forward. And if not -- if you don't get your two minutes
9 or whatever we have DPD personnel here to my left; from the
10 Deputy Chief to Commander Bettison, all those personnel.
11 Then we have staff to the right. So don't feel as though
12 you have to give us your whole speech. You have an
13 opportunity to interact with them, and we want you to do
14 that. Make sure they get your concern and that we can
15 respond to them.

16 So Mr. Brown.

17 MR. BROWN: Our first speaker Ms. Fredia Butler,
18 followed by Ms. Bernice Smith.

19 MS. BUTLER: Good afternoon.

20 BOARD MEMBERS: Good afternoon.

21 MS. BUTLER: Through the Chair. My name is
22 Fredia Butler. I'm a retired educator and I'm a community
23 activist. I have marched and protested as far away as
24 Cleveland, Ohio and Jones Bay Head Forest in very cold
25 weather and here in the heat of summer not to have an

1 overseer or an emergency manager to strip away all power
2 from our elected leaders.

3 In addition I have testified before Judge Rhodes
4 regarding this matter. We lost and an overseer was
5 appointed to all cities of color in the state. Some power
6 has been restored. Last Thursday, March 16th I questioned
7 the handling of a case involving the DPOA president.

8 I apologize to Chief Craig because the inquiring
9 should have been addressed to the Board of Police
10 Commissioners. The Board suspended the president of DPOA
11 with pay, which is paying the perpetrator for committing
12 the crime. I believe if it had been anyone else without a
13 title or of a different color the suspension would have
14 been without pay until the case has been adjudicated. No
15 one is above the law. Thanks for listening.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

17 MS. SMITH: Good afternoon. Berniece Smith.

18 BOARD MEMBERS: Good afternoon.

19 MS. SMITH: Chief, I think I got some good news
20 for the Board. This week we were fortunate enough to have
21 an incident where the man would not wish to let the
22 bailiffs into his property. But in the end with all the
23 confusion and the time element that was spent there was no
24 one shot other than the man, the senior. But I'm just glad
25 that the police were not shot like, you know, what we've

1 been reading about.

2 Now, the good new that's better than the other.
3 Bishop -- he's looking away, but at least he knows I'm
4 going to talk about him. Bishop Edgar Vann is celebrating
5 his 40th anniversary with his church and his involvement
6 with the good Lord. Last night he had an event. And I
7 think everybody should be aware what happened. He was so
8 emotional with the singing that I thought he was going to
9 get up and start directing the choir himself. It was a
10 good event. And we had Kinloch's choir there. And he
11 wasn't present because he was ill. But the fact is I think
12 we have a wonderful minister in our presence. And all this
13 month I believe he's going to be celebrating 40 years. And
14 we wish him the best and hope that he'll live another --
15 not 40, but maybe another 41 years. I do congratulate you
16 Bishop Edgar Vann.

17 And it was a packed house. And everybody got
18 happy and jumped up singing and going on, including the
19 bishop. So I just want you to know we're very fortunate to
20 have you in our midst and know that you're a man of God.
21 And may God forever keep you in his hands. Thank you so
22 much.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

24 MS. SMITH: Oh, in the meantime, it's not
25 presented yet, but he's going to have a ball. It will be

1 in September. I'll bring the invitations for everyone when
2 they have it printed. Because I was told last night that I
3 can have at least twenty. So have that on your agenda,
4 September 22nd. And it's going to be held at the MGM
5 Grand. No gambling; only praising the good Lord. That's
6 all. I thank you.

7 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: How you going to go up in
8 MGM Grand and not gamble?

9 COMMISSIONER VANN: I do it all the time.

10 COMMISSIONER BELL: Let us move on.

11 Mr. Brown, any others.

12 MR. BROWN: That's it.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: If not, I want to --
14 Yes?

15 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Just one quick thing.
16 Earlier commissioners, we've been challenged by the Chief's
17 Office -- I forgot to mention this earlier -- to get a team
18 of five people together to bowl. So if there's any bowlers
19 please let me know who you are so we can lead the way and
20 show the Chief's Office and the fire department and all the
21 other teams that are put together. Even with OCI. Maybe
22 we can include OCI as well as a team.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: I think you should.

24 COMMISSIONER MOORE: You're not going to bowl,
25 Mr. Chair?

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: I said I think you should
2 include OCI with this challenge.

3 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner Moore, I
4 think you better find your best strike throwers.

5 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Okay.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. On a good note, I just
7 want to continue to pray for the two officers and continue
8 to pray for Harrison Tolliver and his daughter in the death
9 of their mother and grandmother. And you should have the
10 details. It was shared. And also we continue to pray for
11 our former Assistant Chief Dolunt. Retirement party is
12 coming up next week on the 30th at 5:00. What's the
13 location again?

14 DC FITZGERALD: -- unintelligible -- right here
15 on Michigan Avenue.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, okay, At 5:00. So
17 that's prior to our 6:30 meeting. And wish him well in
18 terms of the retirement and his life. And all the DPD and
19 all the good citizens in the City of Detroit just continue
20 to pray for peace and tranquility and good health.

21 And I want to Commend Bishop Vann of his 40 years
22 of serving the Lord. And I wish him many, many, many, many
23 more years. Maybe 50 more years in good mind and good
24 health as he continues his journey. And I've been knowing
25 him quite sometime. He's an eastsider.

1 COMMISSIONER VANN: That's right.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: And Mallett?

3 COMMISSIONER MALLET: I hear you.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, then. On that note, if
5 there's no other business to come before this body I would
6 hope that I would see some of you next week. Very
7 important issue that we'd embrace. This is a welcome city
8 that we embrace all. And that's what Detroit is all about.

9 So the Chair would entertain a motion.

10 COMMISSIONER VANN: So moved, Mr. Chair.

11 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Support.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's properly moved and
13 supported.

14 Those in favor aye.

15 BOARD MEMBERS: Aye.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed? Motion
17 carried.

18 Thank you. Have a great, great afternoon.

19 (At 4:10 p.m., proceedings concluded)

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
)
COUNTY OF WAYNE)

I, Donna R. Williams, Certified Shorthand Reporter,
a Notary Public in and for the above county and state, do
hereby certify that the above deposition was taken before
me at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that the
witness was by me first duly sworn to testify to the
truth, and nothing but the truth; that the foregoing
questions asked and answers made by the witness were duly
recorded by me stenographically and reduced to computer
transcription; that this is a true, full and correct
transcript of my stenographic notes so taken. I further
certify that I am not related to, nor of counsel to
either party, nor interested in the event of this cause.

DONNA R. WILLIAMS, CSR 6253

My Commission expires 9/15/2022



A

\$1.5 23:23
\$1.595 24:19
\$2 37:22
\$2,000,000 26:8
able 23:9 31:2
 40:10
absolutely 14:1
 22:3 34:7
 38:14 39:10
AC 30:23,24 31:6
 35:9 36:6,8,15
 37:15,19
academy 6:24 7:9
 7:11 8:24 10:1
 10:25
accepted 35:5
access 35:4
accommodate 29:7
accomplish 14:12
accounting 23:18
accurate 24:6,6
acknowledge
 45:22 46:13
acting 34:9 45:3
action 46:4
actively 35:23
 35:25
activist 53:23
activity 26:2
Ad 41:14
add 18:18 33:13
 34:7 35:9
 47:15
addition 44:16
 45:7 54:3
additional 19:6
 20:18 30:10,13
 44:24 45:1,24
addressed 29:22
 49:7 54:9
addresses 50:16
adequate 34:17
adjudicated
 54:14
Administrations
 14:24
administrative
 15:20
adoption 9:9
 10:11 11:11

advance 48:2
 50:5
advisor 6:4
affiliated 41:22
 41:23
afforded 35:11
afternoon 3:5,6
 3:8 5:20,23,24
 6:20 8:10 14:1
 17:12 28:14
 30:24 53:19,20
 54:17,18 58:18
afternoon's 4:11
agenda 4:11
 17:17,22 18:19
 25:11 43:10
 47:10 48:1
 56:3
agent 17:13
aggravated 12:21
ago 26:21 36:4
 43:23 44:20
agree 26:16
agreement 14:9
 14:10 17:6,7,8
ahead 20:9
Akbar 5:18
allocated 39:5
allotted 18:11
alternative
 37:24 38:11
amazed 6:25 7:4
amount 29:6 38:1
 38:3,10 39:4
amounts 22:16
anniversary 55:5
announcements
 51:10 52:3
answer 40:5
answers 59:11
anxious 26:12
anybody 33:5
anyone's 35:15
anytime 36:17
apartment 12:11
apologize 31:1,3
 49:6 54:8
appeared 44:21
appointed 2:5
 8:22 9:24
 10:23 54:5
appreciate 8:5
 11:20 13:13,25
 26:23 30:22
 34:16 41:3
 46:12 47:16,20
 50:7
appropriate 39:5
 46:6
approval 4:11
 27:22 28:8
approved 16:18
 16:25 17:1
 18:14 19:24
 30:18,18,20
 32:11
approximately
 33:11
April 52:18,18
architect 27:18
area 44:13 52:21
arrangements
 12:5
arrived 34:3
Arthur 6:13
ascertain 31:2
asked 17:15,15
 18:13,18 19:2
 19:20 25:24,24
 32:6 59:11
assaults 12:21
asset 11:9 39:10
assets 9:7 10:9
assigned 8:25
 10:2
Assistant 30:25
 34:12 57:11
assume 7:17 50:9
assuming 28:17
assure 22:8
At-Large 2:9,10
 2:11 3:25 4:2
 4:4,6
Atkinson 13:5
attend 48:25
 49:1 52:5
attended 6:24
 48:19,21
ATTENDEES 3:6
attention 53:3
attest 11:23
audience 53:1
audio/visual
 5:13

authority 13:18
 14:3,5 37:17
authorize 30:8
available 29:2
 30:16
Avenue 1:7 57:15
aware 25:2 38:6
 39:14 40:25
 55:7
awareness 37:9
awhile 26:1 36:4
aye 4:17,18 5:1
 5:2 9:14,15
 10:16,17 11:15
 11:16 25:8,9
 58:14,15
Ayers 44:25

B

B 37:8
back 12:15,16
 20:20 21:19
 25:20 26:1
 33:9,10 35:19
 38:22 42:2
background 7:3
bad 26:19 29:15
Badge 42:4,5
bailiffs 54:22
ball 30:3 55:25
bankrupt 32:23
 35:20
bankruptcy 40:25
barrier 26:18
based 27:15
basement 15:19
 29:16,22
Basically 29:18
battle 12:5
Bay 53:24
BCs 14:25
beat 22:24 39:11
Becker 8:21,22
 9:6
becoming 15:21
began 10:25 29:9
behalf 9:4 10:6
 11:5 12:1
 14:16
believe 21:21
 25:16 29:10
 30:17 39:3,9

48:15 54:12
55:13
Bell 2:3 3:5,7
3:10,13 4:7,10
4:15,19,24 5:3
5:19,25 6:9,17
8:4,12 9:12,16
9:20 10:14,18
11:13,17 12:23
13:12,17,22,24
15:8,10 16:9
18:2,23 19:9
19:13,15,19,22
19:25 20:2,5,9
20:23 21:6,25
22:13,18,23
23:3,7,16
24:24 25:4,10
26:15 27:3,6
28:12,19,22
29:10,12 30:21
31:5 34:1,22
35:1 36:10,22
37:18 38:9
39:22 40:6,16
41:3,5,10
42:13,16 43:2
46:7,18,23
47:1,5,14 48:5
48:10,18 49:12
49:15,18,20
50:7,9,12,14
50:19 51:1,4
51:21,23 52:2
52:10,13,15
54:16 55:23
56:10,13,23
57:1,6,16 58:2
58:4,12,16
belly 32:23
35:16
Bernice 53:18
Berniece 54:17
best 11:21 35:22
37:24 40:2
41:19 49:15
55:14 57:4
better 13:6
21:21 38:11
55:2 57:4
Bettison 53:10
beyond 26:25

bid 32:18,19,20
bishop 2:13
25:23 55:3,4
55:16,19 57:21
bit 12:13 14:4
24:9 26:5
45:14
blame 51:7
board 1:1 2:15
3:9 4:18 5:2,6
7:18 9:3,15
10:17 11:4,16
12:7 17:12
19:1 20:21
25:9 27:9,20
27:21,23 28:6
28:7,8 30:24
34:2,8,8 36:16
36:17 37:1
43:5,25 44:3
46:8 48:3
49:16 53:2,5
53:20 54:9,10
54:18,20 58:15
Board's 5:20
48:1
body 44:7 45:16
58:5
bond 21:18 22:3
bonding 27:11
bonds 21:22
BOPC 31:17
born 31:8,11
bowl 56:18,24
bowlers 56:18
brand 18:5,6
Brenda 44:18
brief 6:22 8:5
12:3 36:2
bring 20:17 31:6
33:10 56:1
brings 46:24
Brooks 2:5 3:24
3:25 4:23
41:16,17 42:6
brought 32:5
34:1
Brown 5:8 50:4
53:3,16,17
56:11,12
Bruce 47:17
brutality 45:19

45:19
bucks 32:25
33:11
budget 20:25
21:1 32:8,22
44:17 45:3
build 33:4,19
build-out 26:23
34:16 35:14
building 6:11
13:18 14:2,4
15:5,7,17,20
15:21 16:11,25
26:7,21 28:24
29:4,5,6,9,20
31:10,16,18,20
31:23,25 32:6
32:7 33:2,5,23
33:24 35:17
37:17 38:1,2
38:21 39:3
40:4
buildings 14:22
29:1 31:9,12
31:13 34:10
bullet 13:8
bunch 23:21
burned 12:11
Burton 2:6 8:9
8:11
bus 31:25 32:1
business 4:10
11:25 16:18
17:1 18:12,15
32:9,10,14,14
35:16 39:12
47:17 48:10
52:2 58:5
Butler 6:15,15
53:17,19,21,22
buy 38:25

C

calendar 52:5
call 3:10,13
cameras 44:7
cancer 12:5
capital 14:6,8
14:11,13 17:16
17:17,22 18:10
18:13,14,18
21:2 22:4
23:10
Captain 6:5
cards 53:4
care 5:25 6:2
48:7
career 11:1 42:9
42:10
careful 37:21
Carjackings
12:20
carried 4:20 5:4
9:17 10:19
11:18 25:11
58:17
Carter 2:7 27:1
48:11,13 49:6
case 16:18,25
17:1,15 18:9
18:15 32:9,10
32:14 44:12
51:19 54:7,14
cases 18:12
cause 59:16
cease 48:12
49:10
Cecilia 40:18
celebrating 55:4
55:13
Center 15:2
52:12
certain 14:7
46:20
certainly 18:19
49:6
CERTIFICATE 59:1
Certified 59:5
certify 59:7,15
CFO 17:13
Chair 3:9,23 4:9
4:22 5:7 7:25
8:3 9:18 10:12
12:2 16:8 18:1
18:24 19:8
20:8,19 21:7
21:17 22:12
23:15 24:16,22
28:17 34:6
36:1 38:13
42:12,14 43:7
44:21 46:2,5
47:6,21 48:13
49:5 50:25

51:22 52:8
 53:21 56:25
 58:9,10
Chairman 8:11
 9:9 10:21
 11:11 25:13,23
 26:12 37:16
 38:7 39:20,21
 46:10,13 50:21
Chairperson 2:3
challenge 57:2
challenged 56:16
changed 18:12
channel 48:14
chaplain 41:18
 41:19
chaplains 41:25
character 51:10
Charles 2:20
 5:22 12:1
check 49:22
checking 27:10
 49:21
chief 2:19,20
 5:15,16,17,21
 5:21,24 6:2,3
 6:23 12:1,1,2
 12:25 13:4,15
 13:16 16:12
 28:14,15,20,23
 29:13 30:25
 32:5 33:14
 34:12 39:13
 40:16 42:22
 44:7 45:11
 53:10 54:8,19
 57:11
Chief's 44:15
 47:8 56:16,20
chime 30:23
choir 55:9,10
chose 31:18
church 52:20
 55:5
churches 41:22
circulated 7:19
cities 54:5
citizens 9:5
 10:6 11:6,9
 34:13 37:24
 39:12 57:19
city 6:14 9:5

10:7 11:6,10
 14:7,14,16,19
 16:19 17:18,18
 21:12 22:5
 31:14 32:17
 37:24 38:4,15
 38:25 44:17,22
 57:19 58:7
City's 37:21
 38:16 40:8
 45:3
citywide 18:11
civil 42:23
civilian 7:10
clarify 35:2
clarity 23:8
 26:12 34:1
 41:12
class 6:24 7:9
 7:15
clear 22:21,22
 31:6 36:22,24
Cleveland 53:24
Clifton 13:20,23
 14:1,2,23 15:3
 15:5,8,12
 16:15,17,25
 17:6 22:2 27:7
 27:13,17,24
 28:3,7,10
 33:21 38:13,20
 39:9 40:5,8,22
 41:9
clock 43:11
 47:10
clocked 47:9
close 32:24 35:9
clothes 7:10
Coalition 45:19
coexist 31:20
cold 53:24
collection 41:2
color 54:5,13
come 7:22 8:9
 15:23 21:19
 23:19 25:20
 33:6 39:12
 42:24 45:15
 46:12,19,20
 48:8 52:15
 58:5
comes 36:17

38:17 43:10
comfortable
 31:22
coming 7:10
 20:20 22:7
 26:1 34:13
 43:25 48:22
 57:12
Commander 6:5
 53:10
Commend 57:21
comment 36:19
comments 12:24
 13:14 15:11
 44:10 53:5
commercial 14:15
 38:16
commission 3:9
 16:12 24:12
 35:4 37:2
 44:21 59:22
commissioner 2:5
 2:6,7,8,12,13
 3:5,7,13,16,17
 3:18,18,20,20
 3:22,22,24,24
 4:1,1,3,3,5,7
 4:10,13,14,15
 4:19,22,23,24
 5:3,19,25 6:9
 6:17 8:1,2,4,9
 8:11,12,16,18
 8:19 9:10,11
 9:12,16,18,20
 9:21 10:11,13
 10:14,18,21
 11:12,13,17
 12:23 13:12,17
 13:22,24 14:20
 15:1,4,7,9,10
 16:8,9,9,10,11
 16:13,16,21,23
 17:3,4,10 18:1
 18:2,2,3,5,7
 18:23 19:8,9
 19:12,13,14,15
 19:17,19,22,25
 20:2,4,5,8,9
 20:10,13,19,23
 20:24 21:6,7
 21:10,17,24,25
 22:12,13,14,18

22:22,23 23:3
 23:7,12,13,14
 23:15,16,17,24
 24:1,2,4,13,14
 24:22,24,25
 25:3,4,10,13
 25:17,18,24
 26:9,10,14,15
 26:15 27:1,2,3
 27:5,6,8,16,23
 28:1,5,9,12,13
 28:19,22 29:10
 29:12 30:21
 31:5 34:1,6,22
 34:24 35:1,3
 36:1,7,9,10,12
 36:22 37:12,14
 37:18,20,20
 38:9,10,19
 39:2,19,21,22
 39:22,23,24
 40:6,9,16,19
 41:3,5,10,16
 41:17 42:5,6
 42:13,14,16,17
 43:2 46:7,10
 46:18,22,23,25
 47:1,4,5,14,17
 48:5,6,10,11
 48:13,18,25
 49:6,12,15,18
 49:20 50:7,9
 50:12,14,15,19
 50:20 51:1,4
 51:12,21,22,23
 51:24 52:2,4,8
 52:10,11,13,14
 52:15 54:16
 55:23 56:7,9
 56:10,13,15,23
 56:24 57:1,3,3
 57:5,6,16 58:1
 58:2,3,4,10,11
 58:12,16
commissioners
 1:1 2:1 3:14
 7:17 8:8 9:3
 10:5 11:4,19
 12:24 43:13
 46:7 49:8 50:5
 51:15 52:24
 54:10 56:16

commitment 11:7
committee 41:14
 43:4 44:12,12
committing 54:11
communicate 46:5
communicated
 44:1 49:23
communication
 7:18,24 45:18
 53:1
communication's
 47:15
communications
 7:19 43:9,10
 43:14
communities
 41:22
community 1:3
 25:20 31:22
 32:3 39:25
 42:20 43:1
 48:23 52:22
 53:22
Complaint 43:18
complaints 31:23
 34:14
complete 19:4,6
 20:11,18 22:16
 23:11 26:7
 40:3
completed 22:9
 24:3,5 29:23
completing 7:3
 27:19
comply 22:18
component 33:3
computer 59:12
concern 37:13
 53:14
concerned 25:16
 37:22 38:3
concerns 46:8
 47:2
concluded 58:19
conducive 34:12
conduct 15:24
 39:12
conducted 45:10
confidential
 51:18
confused 18:3
confusion 54:23

congratulate
 55:15
Conrad 2:10 4:1
consensus 22:20
consider 45:2
consideration
 31:19
consolidation
 31:10 32:8
consultants 31:8
contained 44:23
continue 57:7,7
 57:10,19
continues 57:24
continuing 37:3
 40:1
contract 32:18
Contracting 22:6
contractor 19:3
 20:17 22:10
 25:25 27:18
 29:8,17,23
 30:2,7,7 32:12
contractor's
 30:11
contractors
 21:19 27:10
 32:16
control 26:25
 47:3
conversation
 45:8
conversations
 40:23
copied 50:4
copy 48:3,4
corner 6:8
correct 15:3
 20:16 34:7
 59:13
corrected 21:15
correspondence
 43:21 44:23
 45:18,21 46:3
 47:8
cosign 30:10
cost 26:8 30:10
 40:2
council 17:18,23
 44:17,22,25
 45:3
Council's 17:18

counsel 6:16
 59:15
county 59:3,6
couple 16:4
 26:22 43:23
 44:20
course 5:8 29:20
court 5:14
courts 40:1
cover 53:5
coverage 51:14
Craig 5:21 12:1
 54:8
Crawford 2:8
 3:20,21 9:11
 10:13 16:9,11
 16:16,21 20:24
 34:6,24 35:3
 37:21 48:6
 51:22,24 56:7
 57:3
create 15:19
crime 12:8,19
 54:12
criminal 7:2,4
criteria 32:4
crucial 52:6
CSR 59:19
cumbersome 37:5
currently 14:13
 15:13
cut 17:21
cutting 15:15
cycle 20:25

D

damage 29:16,21
dangerous 14:21
date 46:24
daughter 57:8
David 15:8
Davis 5:17 6:24
 26:20 28:15
day 3:7 43:12
 44:11
DBA 14:13 15:13
 22:2,5,7,11
 27:20,21 30:5
 30:5
DBA's 27:13
DC 40:18,21,23
 41:4 43:21

44:2 47:18,20
 48:18,20 49:5
 49:13,17,19,25
 49:25 50:8,11
 50:13,20 57:14
deadline 45:2
dealing 37:6
dealt 21:9 36:3
death 57:8
December 45:13
decided 29:3
decision 28:6
 34:2,8 40:8
dedication 9:6
 10:8
definitively
 21:3
degree 7:3
degrees 7:4
deliver 47:23
delivered 19:16
demeanor 7:13
demolition 14:14
department 8:23
 9:4,7,25 10:6
 10:9,24 11:5,9
 14:18,24 15:6
 15:14 17:5,7
 18:10 25:19,22
 29:2 31:14,16
 32:13 33:17
 40:7,24 48:15
 48:17,23 49:21
 51:8 56:20
departments 14:9
 14:17
depandant 47:11
depending 45:25
deposition 59:7
deputy 2:20 5:21
 5:24 6:2,3
 12:1,2,25 13:4
 13:15,16 40:16
 53:10
Derrick 2:11 4:3
Deshawn 6:5
designated 8:16
details 57:10
Detective 43:19
determine 44:3
Detroit 1:1,9
 3:1 6:14 8:23

8:24 9:3,4,5
 9:25 10:1,5,6
 10:7,23,25
 11:4,5,6,10
 13:18 14:2,4
 16:19 31:14
 37:25 42:21
 44:22 45:19
 57:19 58:8
Detroit.gov
 50:17 51:9
Dewaelsche 2:9
 4:5,5,14 9:18
 9:21 20:4,8,10
 22:12,14 24:13
 24:22,25 26:9
 42:5,14,17
 52:4,8,11,14
dialogue 7:7
different 18:17
 32:8 42:10
 54:13
differently 22:7
diligence 16:2
Direct 53:5
directing 55:9
direction 12:9
 14:19 41:7
 46:15
directive 44:8,8
directives 44:9
directly 22:5
director 14:2
 19:1,18 21:4
 28:1,3 37:17
 42:23 50:2
disciplinary
 45:9
discipline 7:14
Discrimination
 43:18
discuss 28:18
 44:22
discussed 31:1
discussion 4:17
 5:1 9:14 10:16
 11:15 25:6,7
 41:6
discussions
 33:23
disputing 23:2
Dist 2:3,4,6,7,8

2:12,13
District 3:10,17
 3:19,21,23
disturbed 24:10
Divers 6:13
DMC 50:17
documentation
 36:19
doing 13:6,23
 33:23 42:25
dollars 22:8
 23:14 37:25
Dolunt 57:11
Donna 5:13 59:5
 59:19
Donya 5:10
DPA 13:18 21:21
DPD 6:10 7:14
 11:23 13:18
 36:23 39:8
 43:20 44:8
 53:9 57:18
DPOA 54:7,10
DPW 14:25
Dr 6:13
draft 44:6
drainage 29:21
Drake 5:15,16,17
 6:24 26:20
 28:14,15,20,23
 29:13
dropped 30:2
due 16:2 21:23
duly 59:9,11

E

E 2:6
earlier 36:13
 56:16,17
eastside 16:4
 48:22
eastsider 57:25
Edgar 2:13 3:18
 55:4,16
edification
 15:12
educator 53:22
educators 6:13
effect 34:19
eight 43:9
Eighty 24:17
either 7:3 20:14

33:19 40:14
 49:9 59:16
Elaine 6:6
elected 6:11
 54:2
elective 6:12
electrical 29:25
element 54:23
eleven 52:24
Elizabeth 2:5
 3:24
else's 30:8
 36:25
email 48:23
 49:11 50:16
 51:8,8,9,17
emails 50:22
 51:19,25
embrace 58:7,8
emergency 54:1
emotional 55:8
encountered 7:6
ended 31:24
endorsement
 39:20
enforcement 11:8
 42:25
engineer 27:18
Engineering 15:5
enter 14:9
entertain 58:9
environment 32:3
equipment 30:1
especially 51:9
essentially
 18:16
established 14:5
 14:6
estate 14:15
 38:23
Eva 2:9 4:5
eval 33:24
evening 1:3
 41:20 42:19
event 55:6,10
 59:16
everybody 55:7
 55:17
exactly 25:2
 30:15
exception 51:17
Excuse 50:25

Executive 18:24
exemplary 9:5
 10:7 11:8
exist 35:19
expense 38:4
experts 42:22
expires 59:22
explained 41:20
exposed 7:14
extended 50:3

F

facilitate 22:9
 42:8
facilities 14:7
facility 15:19
facing 42:21
fact 33:1 45:21
 55:11
factors 32:9
facts 27:21 28:8
fall 20:7 32:20
family 6:10
 11:23
fantastic 39:13
far 6:8 11:23
 12:8 16:3
 36:12,22 38:24
 53:23
favor 4:17 5:1
 9:14 10:16
 11:15 25:8
 58:14
feedback 7:20
 17:18 47:2
feel 15:22 31:22
 53:11
Felix 43:19
file 34:13
final 17:21
 27:22
Finally 10:20
finances 25:1
financial 23:18
 24:17 32:23
find 33:5,20
 35:7 40:24
 41:1 57:4
finger 37:11
finish 24:20
 26:8
finished 21:15

24:21 33:2
fire 12:11 48:12
 49:10 56:20
first 7:11 8:18
 50:23 53:17
 59:9
fiscal 35:6
fiscally 34:9
 35:15 40:12,13
fit 31:25
Fitzgerald 2:20
 5:22,24 6:2
 12:1,2 13:4,16
 48:20 57:14
five 12:11,14
 56:18
flag 32:19
floor 26:24
flowing 7:24
 47:15
flows 49:4
followed 53:18
foregoing 59:10
Forest 53:24
forever 55:21
forgot 56:17
forgotten 31:11
former 57:11
formerly 22:19
 44:15
forms 28:11
forth 11:22
 12:16 29:17
 30:1 59:8
fortunate 54:20
 55:19
forward 32:11
 42:2,11 52:6
 53:8
forwarded 45:16
found 37:3
four 45:1
fourth 7:1
frame 53:7
Frank 12:4
Franklin 6:6
Fredia 53:17,22
friend 6:13
front 6:3 44:21
 47:12
fruitful 50:13
full 7:11 23:17

59:13
funded 19:2,5
funding 14:10
 16:19,22,24
 17:1,5 18:8,11
 18:15,16 19:2
 20:25 30:19
funds 19:4,6,21
 19:23 20:16,18
funneled 18:17
funny 40:19,20
further 33:18
 59:14

G

gamble 56:8
gambling 56:5
Gardner 41:18
Garza 2:9 4:5
General 21:12,12
gentleman's
 13:21
Gerald 6:4
getting 7:14,17
 26:4 42:2
give 7:20 13:1
 25:18,21 37:10
 53:2,12
given 3:12 36:7
giving 34:10
glad 54:24
go 5:14 11:22
 20:9 26:14
 27:9 29:2 30:7
 33:24 38:22
 40:3 42:11
 43:15 45:24
 52:6 53:7 56:7
God 55:20,21
goes 41:12 44:11
going 3:10,13
 8:6,12,13,14
 8:15 15:25
 16:1,3,13
 20:25 23:4
 24:9 25:2,19
 26:8 30:8,10
 32:25 33:7,10
 33:19,20 35:18
 37:7 41:7,24
 42:1,18,21
 48:6 50:9

52:16 53:3
 55:4,8,13,18
 55:25 56:4,7
 56:24
good 3:5,6 5:19
 5:23,24 6:12
 6:17,20 7:6
 8:4,9 12:19,22
 13:7 14:1
 17:12 26:24
 28:14 30:24
 38:17,21 39:9
 39:24 41:17
 52:23 53:19,20
 54:17,18,19
 55:2,6,10 56:5
 57:6,19,20,23
 57:23

gotten 44:14
governmental
 50:23
graduating 8:24
 10:1,24
Grand 56:5,8
grandmother 57:9
great 26:16
 35:10,10 39:11
 58:18,18
Greater 52:19
Green 52:12
Gregory 2:15
 12:4
grinning 24:8
Gru 6:6
guarantee 33:6,8
 36:25
guess 6:21 7:10
 8:13 20:14
guilty 49:20
gut 33:9
guys 34:19

H

half 7:7
hall 34:17 35:13
hallways 7:12
hand 39:4
handful 15:13
handle 32:21
handled 14:24,25
 22:5,7 29:17
handling 22:9

54:7
hands 20:23
 55:21
happen 25:15
happened 18:8
 35:18 48:17
 55:7
happens 44:9
 45:11 50:1
happy 36:21
 40:22 55:18
Harassment 43:18
harden 15:22
Harrison 57:8
Hayes 6:6
he'll 55:14
head 28:13 53:24
Headquarters
 34:13
headway 29:19
health 57:20,24
hear 17:24 58:3
heard 31:4
hearing 11:25
hearings 14:25
heart 29:5
heat 53:25
heating 33:7
held 56:4
help 35:17 41:21
 41:21,23 46:18
helpful 46:25
hereinbefore
 59:8
Hewitt 6:4
Hi 13:20
Hicks 2:15 4:9
 5:5,7 13:17,21
 43:5,7 46:16
 47:6,22 50:25
 51:2,5,13,24
higher 22:21
 30:17
highest 9:8 10:9
 11:10 32:20
highlighted 52:4
highlighting
 43:2
Hill 52:19
hire 21:19 30:6
history 27:19
hit 46:15

hoc 41:14
hold 15:22 53:3
holdup 26:6
Hollis 18:24,25
 19:18,20,23
 20:1,12,15
 21:2,11,21
home 13:5
homicides 12:9
honoring 8:21
 9:22
hope 7:18 16:1
 49:2 52:4
 55:14 58:6
hopefully 17:24
 26:16 34:21
 35:8 41:11
hoping 17:21
hospital 13:3
hour 7:7
house 55:17
HR 43:19
hurt 28:13

I

I-75 15:2
Ian 8:21,22 9:6
idea 31:19
identified 31:13
 32:18
identifies 14:11
Identify 13:25
ill 55:11
immediate 38:17
immediately 5:9
 43:12 45:16
immigrant 42:25
immigration
 42:20
impact 12:10
important 58:7
importantly 12:4
improvement 14:6
 43:20
improvements
 14:13
incident 54:21
include 17:16
 56:22 57:2
included 17:17
 21:2 25:1
 49:19

including 42:22
 44:21 55:18
incomplete 19:6
increase 12:14
 12:18
indicating 51:15
information 21:5
 23:2,4 24:6
 36:11 44:2,14
 45:2,23 46:5
 46:20 51:18
informed 21:4
initial 21:11
 29:13
initially 22:4
 28:21
initiate 22:20
inquiries 45:25
inquiring 54:8
inside 43:12
inspection 44:10
instance 15:2
instruct 21:22
interact 7:8,15
 17:5 53:13
interaction 7:5
interest 40:2
interested 59:16
interesting 7:7
intimidating
 32:3
introduce 3:14
 5:25
introducing 5:6
introduction
 5:15
invaluable 9:7
 10:9 11:9
inventory 38:2,6
 38:15,16 39:1
invested 32:24
 39:10
investigation
 45:25
investigations
 45:10,10
investigator
 5:16,17,18
 6:23 28:14,15
 28:20,23 29:13
 32:6 33:14
Investigator's

16:12
investment 38:21
 39:1,17
invitation 49:7
 50:3
invitations 56:1
Invocation 3:12
involved 32:16
involvement 55:5
involving 54:7
irresponsible
 35:15
issue 24:10
 27:14 29:19,21
 33:16 41:11
 43:22 49:2
 51:15 53:7
 58:7
issues 42:21
 46:19 53:6,6
issuing 14:21
item 4:10 5:5
 11:25 41:14
 45:17 47:12
 51:3 52:7
items 21:14
 44:22 46:2

J

James 30:25
January 8:23
 10:24
Jason 9:22,24
 10:8
Jevon 6:4
job 19:4 21:13
 39:5
Johnson 5:10 6:4
joined 27:1 45:6
Jones 17:10,12
 17:12 18:4,6,9
 22:18 23:1,4,8
 23:25 44:18
 53:24
Joseph 43:19
journey 57:24
JR 2:10
Judge 54:3
judgment 37:23
jumbo 23:21
jump 8:19
jumped 55:18

June 15:16
justice 7:2,4

K

keep 40:1 53:7
 55:21
Keri 10:23 11:7
killed 12:12
kind 3:7 26:11
 30:9,20 45:25
 50:1
kinds 23:22
 24:15,15
Kinloch's 55:10
Kisselburg 13:7
know 7:21 14:5
 15:15,20,23
 18:7,21,22
 19:3 20:7
 21:18 23:21
 24:8 26:19,24
 28:25 29:15,25
 30:4,6,11,12
 30:15 31:1
 33:14,16,21,22
 35:2,7,18,21
 35:24 36:11,23
 37:20 39:24
 40:11,15 46:16
 46:19 47:1
 48:21 49:3,4,6
 49:12 50:1,6
 50:23 54:25
 55:19,20 56:19
knowing 46:12
 57:24
knows 55:3

L

LA 52:11
labor 35:12
lag 45:13
late 13:5 14:5
 20:7
latest 21:4
law 11:8 40:6,24
 42:25 54:15
Lawrence 5:18
lead 8:17 21:11
 56:19
leaders 54:2
learn 42:24

lease 31:9 33:17
 33:25 35:8
leases 14:17,17
 31:12
led 45:8
left 3:15 19:4
 53:9
leftover 21:8
legal 6:3 22:10
let's 32:7 41:13
letters 47:24
level 22:21
 30:17
liberty 49:14
license 15:24
Lieutenant 6:4,5
 6:6 41:18
life 57:18
lifelong 11:6
light 11:22
 13:15
limited 32:22
 37:25
lines 31:25
 39:23
Lisa 2:7 17:12
 27:1
list 32:15 43:14
listed 43:9
listening 54:15
Literally 32:1
litigation 30:3
 30:4 32:25
 40:1,11
little 12:13
 14:4 24:9 26:5
 45:13
live 55:14
lobby 15:22
located 38:20
location 39:11
 39:12 52:9,21
 57:13
lockers 15:19
long 34:19 35:21
long-term 33:20
 33:25 35:25
 37:6
longer 18:16
look 12:19 17:20
 27:17 29:2
 30:12 32:6

33:25 38:14
 42:2 44:15
 50:21,22
looked 16:4
 28:23 32:7,8
looking 19:5
 24:11 29:1
 30:9 42:11
 47:18 55:3
looks 13:10
Lord 55:6 56:5
 57:22
lost 12:4,5 54:4
lot 13:8,9 15:24
 16:2 29:16,18
 29:21 30:16
 31:10 39:16
 41:20,24
Louis 52:20
lowest 32:18,19
Lydia 6:15
lying 23:19

M

ma'am 9:20 22:13
 24:24 28:22
 42:16
madam 6:17
mail 49:21
maintains 16:6
maintenance 14:7
 16:7
making 24:9
 29:19 31:22
 49:24
Mallett 2:10 4:1
 4:2 8:2 10:21
 14:20 15:1,4,7
 15:9 23:14
 24:2 25:13,18
 26:10,15 37:12
 37:14,20 38:10
 38:19 39:2,19
 39:24 45:5,7,8
 46:10,22,25
 47:4 50:15,20
 51:12 58:2,3
man 13:22 54:21
 54:24 55:20
manage 38:15
Management 18:25
manager 18:25

54:1
managers 21:13
March 1:5 3:2
 4:12,21 45:18
 54:6
marched 53:23
marketing 38:24
matter 20:3,6
 36:20 41:12
 47:7 54:4
mayor's 17:17
mean 24:5 26:11
 30:19 35:18
 36:19 38:13,22
 39:15 40:9,10
 44:6
Media 5:12
meet 49:3 52:22
meeting 1:3 3:8
 3:10 4:11 5:8
 5:12 41:20,25
 42:18,19,20
 45:5 46:21
 47:8 49:10
 50:6 52:3,18
 57:17
meetings 25:21
 43:23 44:20
 48:12
member 44:25
 45:5,7,8
members 4:18 5:2
 9:15 10:17
 11:16 25:9
 36:16 44:20
 53:20 54:18
 58:15
mention 56:17
mentioned 17:19
 47:23
merit 9:7 10:9
 11:10
Merrill 16:15,17
 17:14 29:4,4
 31:3,7,16
 33:20
met 32:4 36:15
 41:18
method 27:15
Metropolitan
 8:24 10:1,25
MGM 56:4,8

Michigan 1:9 3:1
 57:15 59:2
midst 55:20
mile 32:2 52:20
Miles 6:6
million 23:14,23
 24:19 32:24
 33:11 37:22
mind 38:17 57:23
minister 55:12
minute 53:7
minutes 4:21
 53:2,8
miscommunication
 23:5
mix 48:24
Monday 6:23
money 21:8 24:18
 30:13,15 32:11
 35:18 37:22
 38:1,3,5,11
 39:4,7 40:3
money's 33:3
month 17:25
 48:12,12 55:13
monthly 36:20
 49:3
Moore 2:4 3:22
 3:22 7:25 8:1
 8:16,18 10:11
 11:12 17:4,10
 19:12,14 20:19
 21:10 23:24
 25:3 36:1,7,9
 36:12 56:15,24
 57:3,5 58:11
morning 12:17
Morris 6:8
mother 57:9
motion 4:19 5:3
 9:16 10:18
 11:17 24:23
 25:10 58:9,16
Mound 52:21
move 4:21 5:5
 6:21 8:6 9:9
 10:11 11:11
 34:17 38:3
 41:13 43:5
 56:10
moved 4:13,15,22
 4:24 9:12

10:14 11:13
 25:4 34:11
 35:12 48:21
 58:10,12
moving 37:9
multiple 21:23
mumbo 23:21

N

name 53:2,21
necessarily
 30:19 31:22
 33:14
necessary 46:5
need 23:17 26:19
 31:11,15,25
 38:21 39:1,17
 41:1,21
needed 17:20
 20:18 22:16
 23:10 29:6
needs 21:25 29:3
 29:7 32:14
 39:10 40:9
nefarious 26:2
negotiated 32:15
neighbor 35:10
new 15:14 16:1,3
 18:5,6 20:17
 29:24,25 52:2
 52:19 55:2
news 13:7 19:10
 26:19 54:19
nice 3:7 13:16
night 55:6 56:2
Nine 23:24
nonfatal 12:15
normally 25:13
Notary 59:1,6
notation 48:20
note 7:19 41:17
 47:6,7 48:19
 57:6 58:4
notes 59:14
notice 48:20
 52:24
notification
 48:14,25 52:17
notified 48:11
 48:16
number 31:13
 37:22 40:25

O

obvious 24:7,8
obviously 18:21
 30:3 38:14
occasions 48:16
OCI 29:2 31:17
 31:19,20 33:12
 33:25 34:11,17
 35:25 37:2
 45:9 56:21,22
 57:2
OCI's 35:10
OCP 22:6,9
October 45:12
office 2:19
 16:12 22:6
 32:5 33:14
 34:11,11,20
 43:11,12 44:15
 45:21 46:4
 47:9 56:17,20
officer 6:8,8
 9:6 10:20,22
 10:23,25 11:7
 12:4 13:4,7
officers 7:1 8:7
 8:14 11:21
 13:2 31:23,24
 57:7
offices 35:4
official 6:12
 30:17
officials 6:11
oh 8:8 13:22
 15:1,7 27:3
 40:5 47:18
 51:12 55:24
Ohio 53:24
okay 7:21 8:4,12
 15:9 16:21
 19:19,25 20:2
 23:7 27:16,23
 33:6 47:5,14
 48:10 49:25,25
 50:12,19 51:4
 51:12 52:2,13
 52:25 57:5,6
 57:16 58:4
old 29:8 47:17
 48:10
once 12:6 18:11

18:14,16 22:8
 42:17 44:14
 45:9,20
one-page 22:17
ones 51:25
online 37:4
opened 15:16
operating 45:14
opinion 38:22
opportunity 5:11
 35:11 53:13
opposed 4:19 5:3
 9:16 10:18
 11:17 25:10
 58:16
Oral 53:1
order 3:11 29:7
 45:2
organization
 45:23
outline 8:15
 22:15
outstanding 6:13
 11:20 22:16
overseer 54:1,4
owned 14:7 31:12
 31:14,15

P

p.m 1:5 3:3
 52:15,19 58:19
packed 55:17
page 52:17
paid 26:4
pain 13:9
Palmer 29:5
Pamela 5:16 6:23
 26:20 28:15
panel 36:16
 42:22
Park 29:6
part 13:8 26:17
 27:24 28:3
 34:23,24 35:2
partial 19:4
 20:2
partially 20:1
particular 7:15
 44:25 47:24
 51:3 52:6
parts 42:10
party 57:11

59:16
pay 43:22 47:25
 53:3 54:11,14
payers 39:7
paying 31:12
 54:11
payment 28:11
peace 57:20
people 7:6 12:11
 12:12 23:19,22
 24:15 26:12
 31:10 32:17
 37:3 42:8 45:6
 56:18
percent 12:14,18
 24:17
performance 22:3
 28:10
period 43:24
 44:11
perpetrator
 54:11
person 21:3
 32:21 48:23
 51:7
personal 24:7
 50:22 51:7,19
personally 49:7
 50:3
personnel 53:9
 53:10
pertain 49:22
 51:25
Phonetic 6:7
picking 27:9
picks 33:17
piece 51:18
place 16:19 17:7
 17:8 22:8
 23:18 25:25
 59:8
placeholder
 33:15
Plaisance 16:15
 16:17 17:14
 29:4,4 31:3,7
 31:17 33:20
plan 17:16 18:14
 18:14 21:2
 23:10 31:10
 37:8,8 43:20
please 5:6 42:24

53:2 56:19
plumbing 29:24
plumbing's 33:7
point 19:3 20:10
 30:3 32:15
 37:10,15 44:3
 47:22 50:15,20
police 1:1 2:19
 3:9,16 6:24
 7:1 8:23,24
 9:3,4,25 10:1
 10:5,6,24,25
 11:4,5,7 13:2
 14:18 15:14,14
 15:18,23 16:6
 17:7 31:14,16
 31:20,23,24
 32:13 33:16
 34:13 37:2
 41:18,25 44:7
 45:19 48:15,16
 54:9,25
policewoman
 42:10
Policewomen 42:9
policy 5:10 44:6
 44:12,12
popped 47:18
portion 33:1,22
position 22:24
possible 25:12
possibly 22:14
posted 44:8
potentially 16:3
power 54:1,5
powers 41:10
praising 56:5
pray 3:11 57:7,8
 57:10,20
precinct 6:16
 8:25 10:2 11:1
 15:14,18,20,21
 15:23 37:5
 52:19
precincts 12:18
preliminary 48:3
prepared 49:7
presence 6:20
 55:12
present 9:22
 27:21 28:8
 55:11

presentation
 28:7 46:11
presented 55:25
president 6:15
 6:18 44:18
 54:7,10
pretty 12:3,19
 20:15 29:15
 37:21
previous 19:2,21
 19:23
price 32:15
 33:17
pride 9:6 10:8
printed 56:2
prior 34:3 45:3
 57:17
probably 24:9
 30:12 50:22
problem 22:11
 31:5 33:5
 49:10
proceed 16:20
 17:2,8,9
proceedings
 58:19
process 18:12
 22:2 27:13
 30:6,11 35:16
 44:13,14 45:24
 47:11
Procurement 22:6
program 14:8,14
 14:15
progressing
 13:11
project 14:11,12
 16:20 17:2
 19:6,7 20:11
 20:18 21:13,15
 22:5,5,17
 23:11,20 30:18
 30:18 31:3,8
 32:22
projects 15:13
 18:10,12,13
 22:4 27:19
 28:11
proper 48:20
properly 4:15,24
 9:12 10:14
 11:13 25:4

39:3 58:12
property 13:19
 38:25 54:22
propriety 39:25
protested 53:23
protocol 32:10
proud 7:14
provide 36:21
provided 32:14
providing 5:13
PSHQ 33:12
public 11:7
 44:10 53:5,6
 59:6
pull 25:22
pulled 13:8
purchases 14:18
purpose 44:4
 53:4
pursue 22:20
 41:2
pursued 20:3
pursuing 35:23
 35:25 38:12
 40:14
purview 36:18
push 18:20
pushups 7:13
put 16:19 25:11
 29:24 30:1
 32:9 44:10
 52:5 56:21
puts 12:17
putting 41:19

Q

qualifications
 27:15,19
quarter 32:2
question 17:4
 19:1 27:2,8
 36:3,17 37:12
 43:23 45:11
 48:7
questioned 54:6
questions 12:24
 13:14 15:10
 44:17,19,24
 45:1 46:7
 59:11
quick 51:2 56:15
quickly 22:1

Quinn 5:12
quite 39:19 49:2
 57:25
quorum 4:8,9

R

R 2:4 59:5,19
raised 43:23
 49:1
ramifications
 22:10
ran 32:1
reached 50:2
read 8:15 10:21
 51:24
reading 48:8
 55:1
real 14:15 38:23
really 6:22
 11:20 12:8
 22:24 23:12
 26:7 34:12,18
 37:1,4,5,15
 49:22
reason 31:18
reasons 30:13
recall 44:19
 51:3,14
receive 18:15
 26:13 44:9,17
 45:20 46:20
 47:23 49:24
 51:2
received 17:22
 23:2 36:10
 41:23 43:15,17
 43:19,20 44:2
 44:16,24 45:12
 45:17,22 46:3
 46:13,16 47:7
 48:14
receiving 7:20
 7:22 23:5 24:6
 51:16
recognize 9:5
 10:7 11:6
recollection
 45:7
recommendation
 27:20
recommendations
 17:19,24 47:25

record 5:16
 28:16 30:8
 43:17
recorded 59:12
recording 5:12
recruit 41:23
rectify 49:1,3
reduced 59:12
refer 32:17 46:4
regard 9:8 10:10
 11:10
regarding 42:20
 54:4
Reggie 3:20
Reginald 2:8
 41:19
regular 47:11
regulatory 14:20
related 59:15
relates 33:4
 42:25
Relations 6:16
reliable 19:10
 19:12,13,14
remarks 12:3
remedy 33:15
remember 25:23
 48:7
remind 42:17
renovation 15:17
 29:7,14
renovations 14:6
 29:18
repeat 31:3
reply 45:21
report 6:21,22
 8:5 22:17 25:1
 26:20 36:3
 43:8,18 44:5
 45:9 46:3,23
reported 20:6
 33:22 44:19
reporter 5:14
 59:5
reports 41:14
 45:12,13,15
representations
 26:3
representing
 2:19 6:12
request 22:15,19
 45:5

requested 30:14
 48:15
requesting 23:9
require 22:4
 28:10 33:10
requirement
 27:25
requirements
 28:4
resolution 8:6
 8:15,21 9:21
resolve 32:25
 33:1,16,18
resolved 9:2
 10:4 11:3 20:6
 22:23 35:8
Resource 18:25
respond 53:15
responded 25:14
 44:18 45:1
response 13:18
 25:12 51:2
responses 23:22
responsibility
 14:21
responsible
 20:20 21:9
 34:9,9 40:13
 40:13
restored 54:6
retired 8:7
 53:22
retirement 11:21
 11:22 57:11,18
reviewed 44:13
revising 17:23
revisions 17:21
rewarding 7:8
RFQ 27:14
Rhodes 54:3
ribbon 15:15
Ricardo 2:4 3:22
Richard 2:12
 3:16
right 5:9 7:25
 8:1,6 12:6,9
 12:12 17:9
 19:17 20:4,12
 21:10 22:3
 24:13 26:2,9
 27:11 28:2
 29:5 32:25

33:18 38:8
 42:7 46:22
 47:19 53:11
 57:14 58:1
rights 42:23
Road 52:21
Robberies 12:20
Robert 5:8
role 36:23
roll 3:13
room 6:11 42:7
rough 39:15,15
route 18:17
row 25:21
run 14:14 27:11
running 7:13
Russell 15:2
rustic 32:22

S

sacrifice 34:10
 35:6
safety 11:7 15:5
 15:7 53:6,6
sales 14:18
Sanders 2:11 4:3
 4:4 9:10 19:8
 20:13 21:17,24
 23:12 25:17
 26:14 27:2,4,5
 27:8,16,23
 28:1,5,9,13
sat 6:7
satisfied 39:20
 41:6
saying 19:20
 24:8 36:5
schedule 20:7
scheduled 43:15
 52:18
school 29:8
sealed 19:16
seated 5:9
second 6:15 8:25
 9:11 10:13
 24:14
Secondly 44:6
secretary 2:15
 4:7 7:18 43:6
 46:8,11 49:16
 50:4
section 44:4

SED 52:11
see 5:20 6:12,17
 6:20 8:9,9
 15:1 32:7
 33:24 38:19,23
 39:18 52:23
 58:6
seen 50:24
segment 8:13
selected 32:11
 32:21
selection 27:15
send 43:12 47:10
 49:15,18 51:5
 51:6,7,8,10,16
sending 51:6
senior 54:24
sent 45:23 48:23
separation 37:6
September 56:1,4
Sergeant 5:11
 6:4,6 8:21
 9:19,22 10:8
series 44:23
serious 24:10
serve 31:15
service 9:6 10:7
 11:8,20
services 5:12
 21:12,12 27:14
servicing 57:22
set 48:1 59:8
setting 25:20
settle 16:5
Seven 52:20
seventh 16:1,3
 26:23
shady 21:19
shape 29:15
share 8:8
shared 57:10
Shelby 2:12 3:16
 3:16
shootings 12:15
short 47:2
Shorthand 59:5
shot 54:24,25
show 36:19 53:4
 56:20
shows 22:15
side 48:21
signed 19:15

47:24 48:4
significant
 12:10 39:1,2
 39:17
significantly
 38:2
simply 43:8 46:2
Sims 6:5,5
simultaneously
 44:11
singing 55:8,18
sir 6:9 8:10
 12:2,23 13:4
 16:11,16 18:6
 18:23 23:16
 26:23 27:3
 28:12 40:17,22
 40:24 41:8
 46:9 50:11,13
 51:23
site 16:5 50:23
sites 16:4
sitting 5:21
 13:10
situation 45:20
six 12:17
slightly 12:13
Sloan 9:19,23,24
 10:8
Smith 10:20,22
 10:23,25 11:7
 53:18 54:17,17
 54:19 55:24
snuck 6:7
solution 33:21
 35:25
solve 31:15
somebody 21:25
 36:25 39:6
 40:9
somebody's 23:19
 24:5,21
soon 18:21 25:12
 34:21 47:12
sorry 27:3
sort 52:6
source 19:11
Southwest 42:21
space 33:17
 34:17 35:7,12
 35:12,17
span 47:3

speak 19:18 21:3
 21:21,24 37:16
 53:2
speaker 53:17
speakers 21:23
speaking 9:4
 10:5 11:5
 19:22
special 42:19
speech 53:12
spend 37:25
spent 54:23
spirit 26:16
spoke 41:11
sporadically
 49:23
squatters 34:20
squatting 34:19
 35:2
St 52:20
staff 5:6,15,20
 7:15 34:23,25
 53:11
stages 17:23
stamp 43:11
standing 41:14
standpoint 36:15
start 6:3 8:18
 31:7 55:9
starting 3:14
 26:11 36:24
 38:7
state 54:5 59:2
 59:6
stated 34:12
 36:13 37:9
 48:22
status 23:20
stay 35:21
Stein 50:2
stenographic
 59:14
stenographically
 59:12
step 17:11
stewards 39:25
stifle 37:11
stifled 37:1,2
stop 31:12
stops 28:5
story 29:5
strike 57:4

strip 54:1
structure 38:16
 38:20
structures 39:16
student 7:1
stuff 16:5
subdiffusion
 26:5
submit 18:13,15
 37:16
submitted 17:15
 17:17
substantial 29:6
suggest 35:15
suggesting 25:15
suit 29:3
Suite 1:7
suited 39:3
sum 32:24
summary 22:17
summer 53:25
Supervising 5:18
Support 4:14,23
 9:10 11:12
 25:3 58:11
supported 4:16
 4:25 9:13
 10:15 11:14
 25:5 58:13
supposed 24:4,18
 24:20,20 40:12
 48:8
supposedly 24:2
sure 12:6 22:9
 27:10 29:3
 42:8 43:13
 46:14 48:2,3
 49:24 50:1,3,5
 51:13 53:14
surgery 13:7
suspended 54:10
suspension 43:22
 43:24 54:13
suspensions
 43:25 44:1
 47:24
sworn 59:9
system 49:11
 51:9

T

take 5:11 7:19

8:17 17:20
 24:20 32:6,19
taken 46:4 59:7
 59:14
talk 21:25 23:21
 28:21 42:9
 55:4
talking 21:1
 31:2
taping 5:13
task 39:4
tax 37:25 39:7
team 32:9,16
 35:12 38:23
 46:16 56:17,22
teams 56:21
tearing 26:10
teeter 12:15
telephone 29:25
tell 12:9 23:20
 27:9 39:6
 40:10,12
telling 20:21
 24:5,21
ten 7:2 12:17
tenant 35:10
Tenth 11:1
term 34:23
terminal 32:1
terms 7:5 14:21
 17:14 20:24
 34:9 35:6,7
 38:10 45:14
 46:24 47:1,25
 57:18
testified 54:3
testify 59:9
thank 5:7,19 6:9
 6:19 8:4 10:19
 11:19 12:23
 13:12,12,24,24
 13:24 15:9
 26:18,18,18,24
 28:9,12 30:21
 37:19 39:20
 40:17 41:5,8
 41:10,19,25
 42:12,13,13
 43:1,2,7 47:5
 47:14 48:5,9
 50:14,14 51:21
 51:21,25 52:13

52:13,25 54:16
 55:21,23 56:6
 58:18
Thanks 54:15
thing 25:23 36:2
 36:4,13 56:15
things 14:25
 18:18 24:15
 30:16 41:21
 50:9 51:3,16
think 6:7,25 7:5
 20:24 23:1,5
 24:16 25:6
 26:12 29:10
 30:9,20 32:2
 34:22 39:13
 40:6 41:24
 42:7 44:19
 46:18,23 52:5
 54:19 55:7,11
 56:23 57:1,4
Third 1:7
thought 20:5
 22:21 32:21
 55:8
three 8:7 12:12
 12:13 25:19,22
 34:15,16 37:10
 41:12 51:13
throwers 57:4
Thursday 1:5
 42:18 54:6
tickets 14:21
tied 14:10
time 12:14 18:19
 19:5 24:14
 29:8,18,23
 30:5,16 31:19
 32:10,17 38:4
 41:15 43:24
 45:14 49:2
 50:23 52:23
 53:7 54:23
 56:9 59:8
timeline 22:15
 24:17 25:1
timeliness 48:1
timely 26:19
title 54:13
today 5:14,17
 43:16
Today's 5:8

told 19:10 20:11
 24:15 30:16,17
 40:10 56:2
Tolliver 57:8
tomorrow 42:4
top 25:11
totter 12:15
tranquility
 57:20
transactions
 14:16
transcript 59:14
transcription
 59:13
transferred 30:5
transmitted 45:4
transparency
 36:3,13
transpired 46:24
Travis 6:7
treading 12:8
trending 12:20
 12:21,22
trouble 32:23
true 59:13
trust 20:7 33:8
truth 24:5,21
 59:10,10
try 14:11 18:20
 23:21 25:12
 51:24
trying 15:15,18
 16:4 24:7 35:7
 39:6 40:3
 48:24
turn 51:5
Twelfth 10:2
twenty 56:3
twenty-seven 7:1
two 7:11,22 13:2
 25:21 41:12
 43:13 44:1
 47:24 50:16
 53:2,7,8 57:7
type 7:5 36:11
 37:9
typically 14:8
 14:23 27:13
 44:9
Tyrone 14:2
 18:20 27:5,6
 33:21 35:24

U

ultimately 33:19
unaware 50:18
understand 18:19
 19:25 21:6
 22:24 35:6
 48:1
understanding
 20:14,17 23:10
 30:2 45:15
Underwood 5:10
undisclosed
 21:14
unfortunately
 12:11
unintelligible
 21:23 57:14
unnecessary 38:4
update 13:1,13
 20:21 25:1
 30:21 36:20
upkeep 16:7
urge 42:23
urgency 47:12
use 34:22 35:1
 35:11 50:16
 51:19
usually 32:19
utilized 20:16

V

Vann 2:13 3:18
 3:18 4:13,22
 16:8,10,13,23
 17:3 18:1,2,3
 18:5,7 19:17
 21:7 22:22
 23:13,15,17
 24:1,4,14
 25:24 39:21,22
 39:23 40:9,19
 55:4,16 56:9
 57:21 58:1,10
various 14:9,16
vendor 27:17
vendors 38:25
Vernor 52:12
Vice 3:23 7:25
Vice-Chairperson
 2:4
view 31:6

W

waiting 16:18,21
 16:23 24:11
walk 7:12 29:14
 36:17
walk-in 29:14
walk-ins 37:4
walk-through
 26:22,22
walked 28:21
 36:2
walking 13:10
 31:24
walls 33:7
want 5:14 7:22
 9:22 11:19
 25:14 26:17,20
 28:17,20 30:23
 31:21 33:9
 34:7,22 35:1,9
 35:14,21 36:20
 37:6,8,10
 38:25 41:25
 43:8 46:2,10
 46:13,20 47:6
 48:25 53:13
 55:19 56:13
 57:7,21
wanted 44:3
 46:14 48:2
warm 41:24
Washington 6:3
 40:16,18,18,21
 40:23 41:4
 43:21 44:2
 47:20 48:18
 49:5,13,17,19
 49:25 50:8,11
 50:13,21
wasn't 19:1 26:3
 32:3 36:14
 40:25 55:11
wasting 39:7
water 29:16,16
 29:21
way 49:21 56:19
WAYNE 59:3
we'll 15:21
 17:24 18:21
 45:9 47:10,12
 48:3

we're 8:6,12,13
 8:14,15 12:13
 12:13,16,16,17
 15:15,17,18,25
 16:4,21,23
 17:21,23 19:5
 20:25 21:1
 22:24 23:9,23
 24:6 25:19
 30:9 31:2
 33:19,20 35:18
 36:23 37:9
 38:12 40:10
 41:7,24 42:11
 42:21,21 49:20
 49:23 52:16
 55:19
we've 12:8,9
 14:17 16:4
 18:18 24:11,14
 24:16 33:2
 35:12 36:22
 37:21,22 44:14
 46:4 48:15,24
 54:25 56:16
weak 3:7
weather 53:25
week 7:1,11 12:4
 13:5 17:19
 25:12,14,20
 52:22 54:20
 57:12 58:6
weekend 12:12
 13:5
weekly 3:8
weeks 7:11,22
 25:19,22 37:10
 41:12
weigh 37:7,8
welcome 3:8 6:9
 41:24 58:7
went 13:5 31:13
 32:11,23,23
 35:16 45:10
weren't 36:7
west 48:21 52:12
White 5:10 30:23
 30:24,25 31:6
 35:9 36:6,8,15
 37:19
widely 51:16
William 6:5

Williams 5:13
 6:8 59:5,19
Willie 2:3,6 3:9
willing 36:18
wiring 29:25
wise 12:19
wish 11:21 54:21
 55:14 57:17,22
witness 7:12
 59:9,11
witnessed 7:9
 26:21
women 42:4,8
wonder 38:5
wonderful 41:20
 55:12
wondering 39:25
 40:11
word 35:1
work 21:20 26:3
 29:9,24 30:8
 30:11 32:7
 33:6 34:18
 35:22 36:25
 37:2,2
working 15:13,17
 15:25 18:20
 31:8
works 34:4
worn 44:7
Wow 52:24
wrong 39:16

X

Y

yeah 35:9 37:14
 38:13
year 12:14 16:1
 16:6 20:13
 26:21
years 6:14 34:15
 34:16 55:13,15
 57:21,23,23
Yep 41:9 47:4
young 7:6 13:22
 42:7
Youth 52:11

Z

Zion 52:19

0

1

1 2:12 3:17
1.595 23:11,25
 24:1
1.995 37:23
10:00 42:6
100% 22:3 28:10
11th 52:19
12 8:23 34:3
13 52:18
1301 1:7
14th 45:18
16 4:21
16th 54:6
17G 6:25
18891 52:20
1996 9:25 10:24
1998 8:23
1st 15:16

2

2 2:13 3:19
2:00 42:6,7
20% 33:8
2013 34:3
2016 45:12,13
2017 1:5 3:2
 4:21 20:3
 43:20 52:19
22nd 56:4
23 1:5 3:2
23rd 4:12

3

3 2:8 3:21
3:00 1:5 3:3
 52:16,16
30 44:11
304.6 44:8
30th 57:12
3rd 15:18

4

4 2:3 3:10
4:10 58:19
40 55:13,15
 57:21
40th 55:5
41 55:15

48226 1:9

5

5 2:6
5:00 57:12,16
50 57:23

6

6 2:7
6:30 42:19 52:14
 52:15,19 57:17
6253 59:19
6th 9:25

7

7 2:4 3:23
70s 14:5
767 1:7

8

8 10:24
80 42:7
80% 20:11,15,16
 24:2,4,20 26:7
 26:11 29:23
 33:2,4
8th 15:14

9

9/15/2022 59:22